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reduction of unproductive investment sales and financing professionals during the COVID-19 pandemic and a shift toward
more experienced investment sales and financing professionals due to the challenging market environment and rising
interest rates.

Available Information

Our website address is www.MarcusMillichap.com. Information on our website does not constitute part of this report
and inclusions of our internet address in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are inactive textual references only. We are
required to file current, annual and quarterly reports, proxy statements, and other information required by the Exchange
Act, with the SEC. We make available free of charge through a link provided on our website, our annual reports on Form
10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements, Forms 3, 4 and 5 filed by or on
behalf of directors, executive officers and certain large stockholders, and any amendments to those documents filed or
furnished pursuant to the Exchange Act. Such reports are available as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed
with the SEC.

The SEC also maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information
about us that we file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov.

We also make available on our website and will provide print copies to stockholders upon request, (i) our corporate
governance guidelines, (ii) our code of ethics, and (iii) charters of the audit, compensation, nominating and corporate
governance, and executive committees of our Board of Directors.

From time to time, we may announce key information in compliance with Regulation FD by disclosing that
information on our website.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the following risk factors
and the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our consolidated financial statements and related
notes, before making any investment decisions regarding our securities. If any of the following risks actually occur, our
business, financial condition and operating results could be adversely affected. As a result, the trading price of our
securities could decline, and you may lose part or all of your investment.

Overview

We are impacted by and manage many risk factors detailed below affecting our business including External
Business Risks, Human Resource and Personnel Risks, Internal Business Risks, Technology and Cybersecurity Risks,
Investment Risks, Risks Related to Our Founder and General Risks as well as the risks discussed in “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Position and Results of Operations” and “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
About Market Risk.” Many of these factors described below in External Business Risks are outside of our control. In
addition, we are a personnel and relationship-intensive business rather than a capital-intensive business. While all the risk
factors discussed below have the potential to negatively impact our business, the most significant risks facing us are the
risks associated with general economic conditions, commercial real estate market conditions, and our ability to attract and
retain qualified and experienced managers and investment sales and financing professionals.

External Business Risks

General economic conditions and commercial real estate market conditions have had and may in the future have a
negative impact on our business.

Over the past several years macroeconomic factors, including the COVID-19 pandemic, have caused significant
volatility to the U.S. economy. The impact of these factors has led to uncertainty in the financial markets, high inflation,
rising interest rates and may lead to an extended economic downturn, which could adversely impact the commercial real
estate industry. We may be negatively impacted by periods of economic downturns, recessions and disruptions in the
capital markets; credit and liquidity issues in the capital markets, including international, national, regional and local
markets; inflationary pressures; tax and regulatory changes and corresponding declines in the demand for commercial real
estate investment and related services. Historically, commercial real estate markets and, in particular, the U.S. commercial
real estate market, have tended to be cyclical and related to the flow of capital to the sector, the condition of the economy
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as a whole, and to the perceptions and confidence of market participants to the economic outlook. Cycles in the real estate
markets may lead to similar cycles in our earnings and significant volatility in our stock price. Further real estate markets
may “lag” behind the broader economy such that even when underlying economic fundamentals improve in a given market,
additional time may be required for these improvements to translate into strength in the real estate markets. The “lag” may
be exacerbated when banks delay their resolution of commercial real estate assets whose values are less than their
associated loans.

Negative economic conditions, changes in interest rates such as the significant increase in rates during 2022, credit
and the availability of capital, both debt and/or equity, disruptions in capital markets, uncertainty of the tax and regulatory
environment and/or declines in the demand for commercial real estate investment and related services in international and
domestic markets or in significant markets in which we do business, have had and could have in the future a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and/or financial condition. In particular, the commercial real estate
market is directly impacted by (i) the lack of debt and/or equity financing for commercial real estate transactions, (ii)
increased interest rates and changes in monetary policies by the U.S. Federal Reserve, (iii) changes in the perception that
commercial real estate is an accepted asset class for portfolio diversification, (iv) changes in tax policy affecting the
attractiveness of real estate as an investment choice, (v) changes in regulatory policy impacting real estate development
opportunities and capital markets, (vi) slowdowns in economic activity that could cause residential and commercial tenant
demand to decline, (vii) declines in the regional or local demand for commercial real estate, or (viii) significant disruptions
in other segments of the real estate markets could adversely affect our results of operations. Any of the foregoing could
adversely affect the operation and income of commercial real estate properties. Additionally, we are subject to inflationary
pressures on employee and contractor wages and salaries, which can materially impact our financial results.

These and other types of events could lead to a decline in transaction activity as well as a decrease in property values
which, in turn, would likely lead to a reduction in brokerage commissions and financing fees relating to such transactions.
These effects would likely cause us to realize lower revenue from our transaction service fees, including brokerage
commissions, which fees usually are tied to the transaction value and are payable upon the successful completion of a
particular transaction. Such declines in transaction activity and value would likely also significantly reduce our financing
activities and revenue.

Fiscal uncertainty, significant changes and volatility in the financial markets and business environment, and similar
significant changes in the global, political, security and competitive landscape, make it increasingly difficult for us to
predict our revenue and earnings into the future. As a result, any revenue or earnings projections or economic outlook
which we may give, may be affected by such events or may otherwise turn out to be inaccurate.

Our business has been, and may in the future, be adversely affected by restrictions in the availability of debt or equity
capital, the fluctuating cost of capital, as well as a lack of adequate credit and the risk of deterioration of the debt or
credit markets and commercial real estate markets.

Restrictions on the availability of capital, both debt and/or equity, can create significant reductions in the liquidity
and flow of capital to the commercial real estate markets. Severe restrictions in debt or equity liquidity as well as the lack
of the availability of credit in the markets we service can significantly reduce the volume and pace of commercial real
estate transactions. These restrictions can also have a general negative effect upon commercial real estate prices
themselves. Our business is particularly sensitive to the volume of activity and pricing in the commercial real estate market.
This has had, and may have in the future, a significant adverse effect on our business.

We cannot predict with any degree of certainty the magnitude or duration of developments in the credit markets and
commercial real estate markets as it is inherently difficult to make accurate predictions with respect to such
macroeconomic movements that are beyond our control. This uncertainty limits our ability to plan for future developments.
In addition, uncertainty regarding market conditions may limit the ability of other participants in the credit markets or
commercial real estate markets to plan for the future. As a result, market participants may act more conservatively than
they might in a stabilized market, which may perpetuate and amplify the adverse developments in the markets we service.
While business opportunities may emerge from assisting clients with transactions relating to distressed commercial real
estate assets, there can be no assurance that the volume of such transactions will be sufficient to meaningfully offset the
declines in transaction volumes within the overall commercial real estate market.
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Increases in prevailing interest rates may result in downward pressure on the price of real estate and reduce activity in
the commercial real estate industry resulting in a negative impact on our business.

Market interest rates are affected by many factors outside of our control, including governmental monetary policies,
domestic and international economic conditions, inflation, deflation, recession, changes in unemployment, the money
supply, international disorder and instability in domestic and foreign financial markets. Rising interest rates create
downward pressure on the price of real estate and reduce activity in the commercial real estate industry, which have
recently and may continue to have an adverse impact on our business.

Interest rates remained at relatively low levels on a historical basis and the U.S. Federal Reserve maintained the
federal funds target range at 0.0% to 0.25% for much of 2020 and 2021. During 2022, the Federal Reserve raised interest
rates by an aggregate of 425 basis points. These increases resulted in a slow down in activity during the second half of
2022. The market consensus is that interest rates will be increased additional times during 2023. If interest rates increase
further, the resulting reduction in commercial real estate transactions and subsequent price reduction of commercial real
estate generally may result in us closing fewer brokerage, financing and other transactions, which would result in decreased
revenue and adversely impact our business.

Inflation can have an adverse impact on our business and on our clients.

Inflation risk is the risk that the value of assets or income from investments will be worth less in the future as
inflation decreases the value of money. The annual inflation rate in the U.S. increased to 9.1% in June 2022, the highest
annual inflation rate since November 1981, but decreased to 6.5% in December 2022. As a result, during 2022, the Federal
Reserve increased the federal funds rate and indicated its intention to continue to increase interest rates in an effort to
combat inflation. Inflation has increased the wages paid to our employees and independent contractors. Furthermore, our
clients are also affected by inflation and rising interest rates. A significant and continued increase in interest rates and
inflation would be expected to have a negative impact on client demand for commercial real estate and need for our
services, which would, in turn, affect our profitability.

Our loss sharing indemnification obligation pursuant to our agreement with M&T Realty Capital Corporation may
adversely impact our results of operations, cash flows and/or our financial condition.

In September 2021, MMCC entered into an agreement with MTRCC, which has a DUS Agreement with Fannie Mae
and is an approved lender for Freddie Mac’s Conventional and Targeted Affordable Housing loans. MTRCC originates,
underwrites, closes and services loans under the DUS Agreement and is subject to indemnifying Fannie Mae for of a
portion of the risk of loss for those loans. Under the agreement with MTRCC, MMCC provides loan opportunities to
MTRCC, and for those loans closed under the DUS Agreement by MTRCC, MMCC has the option to assume a portion of
the indemnification obligation of MTRCC to Fannie Mae. We may need to secure additional sources of financing to satisfy
our loss sharing indemnification obligations under these programs. We cannot make any assurances that such financing
would be available on attractive terms, if at all, or that any indemnification obligations might be material or would not have
an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We have numerous significant competitors and potential future competitors, some of which may have greater resources
than we do, and we may not be able to continue to compete effectively.

We compete in investment sales and financing within the commercial real estate industry. Our investment sales
focus is on the private client market segment, which is highly fragmented. The fragmentation of our market makes it
challenging to effectively gain market share. While we may have a competitive advantage over other national firms in the
private client market segment, we also face competition from local and regional service providers who have existing
relationships with potential clients. Furthermore, transactions in the private client market segment are smaller than many
other commercial real estate transactions. Although the brokerage commissions in this segment are generally a higher
percentage of the sales price, the smaller size of the transactions requires us to close many more transactions to sustain
revenue. If the commission structure or the velocity of transactions were to change, we could be disproportionately affected
by changes compared to other companies that focus on larger transactions, institutional clients and other segments of the
commercial real estate market.

There is no assurance that we will be able to continue to compete effectively, maintain our current fee arrangements
with our private clients, maintain current margin levels or counteract increased competition. The services we provide to our
clients are highly competitive on a national, regional and local level. Depending on the geography, property type or service,
we face competition from, including, but not limited to, commercial real estate service providers, in-house real estate
departments, private owners and developers, commercial mortgage servicers, institutional lenders, research and consulting
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firms, and investment managers, some of whom are clients and many of whom may have greater financial resources than
we do. In addition, future changes in laws and regulations could lead to the entry of other competitors. Many of our
competitors are local, regional or national firms. Although most are substantially smaller than we are, some of these
competitors are larger on a local, regional or national basis, and we believe more national firms are exploring entry into or
expansion in the $1 million to $10 million private client market segment. We may face increased competition from even
stronger competitors in the future due to a trend toward acquisitions and consolidation. We are also subject to competition
from other large national and multi-national firms as well as regional and local firms that have similar service competencies
to ours. Our existing and future competitors may choose to undercut our fees or increase the levels of compensation they
are willing to pay to their employees and investment sales and financing professionals. This could result in these
competitors recruiting our employees and investment sales and financing professionals, cause us to increase our level of
compensation or commission necessary to retain employees or investment sales and financing professionals, and/or require
us to recruit new employees or investment sales and financing professionals. These occurrences could cause our revenue to
decrease, and/or expenses to increase, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

Our brokerage operations are subject to geographic and commercial real estate market risks, which could adversely
affect our revenue and profitability.

Our real estate brokerage offices are located in and around large metropolitan areas as well as mid-market regions
throughout the U.S. and Canada. Local and regional economic conditions in these locations could differ materially from
prevailing conditions in other parts of the country. We realize more of our revenue in California than in any other state. In
2022, we earned approximately 23% of our revenue from offices in California. In particular, as a result of this
concentration, we are subject to risks related to the California economy and real estate markets more than in other
geographic markets. In addition to economic conditions, this geographic concentration means that California-specific
legislation, California-specific COVID-19 outbreaks or restrictions, taxes and regional disasters, such as earthquakes and
wildfires as well as the impact of climate change, could disproportionately affect us. A downturn in investment real estate
demand or economic conditions in California and other regions could result in a further decline in our total gross
commission income which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Seasonal fluctuations and other market data in the investment real estate industry could adversely affect our business
and make comparisons of our quarterly results difficult.

Our revenue and profits have historically tended to be significantly higher in the second half of each year than in the
first half of the year. This is a result of a general focus in the real estate industry on completing or documenting
transactions by calendar year end and because certain of our expenses are relatively constant throughout the year. This
historical trend can be disrupted both positively and negatively by major economic, regulatory or political events impacting
investor sentiment for a particular property type or location, current and future projections of interest rates and tax rates,
attractiveness of other asset classes, market liquidity and the extent of limitations or availability of capital allocations for
larger institutional buyers, to name a few. During the year ended December 31, 2022, seasonal fluctuations were disrupted
by changes in overall market conditions and rising interest rates. As a result, our historical pattern of seasonality may or
may not continue to the same degree experienced in the prior years and may make it difficult to determine, during the
course of the year, whether planned results will be achieved, and thus to adjust to changes in expectations.

A change in the tax laws relating to like-kind exchanges could adversely affect our business and the value of our stock.

Section 1031 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), provides for tax-free exchanges of
real property for other real property. Legislation has been proposed on several occasions that would repeal or restrict the
application of Section 103 1. If tax-free exchanges under Section 1031 were to be limited or unavailable, our clients or
prospective clients may decide not to purchase or sell property that they would have otherwise purchased or sold due to the
tax consequences of the transaction, thus reducing the commissions we would have otherwise received. Any repeal or
significant change in the tax rules pertaining to like-kind exchanges could have a substantial adverse impact on our
business, financial condition, results of operations, and the value of our stock.

A change in the tax laws could adversely affect our business and the value of our stock.

Changes in tax laws can impact investors’ perceived value of real estate, timing of transactions and perception of
real estate as a favorable investment. As a result, such changes may increase or decrease investors’ desire to engage in real
estate transactions, which could have an unfavorable impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and
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the value of our stock. Changes in tax laws in the various jurisdictions in which we operate may also impact the taxes we
are required to pay, our ability to transact business in such jurisdictions, and may make operating in these jurisdictions
unprofitable and unfavorably impact our results of operations and ability to execute our growth plans.

The Internet could devalue our information services and lead to reduced client relationships, which could reduce the
demand for our services.

The dynamic nature of the Internet, which has substantially increased the availability and transparency of
information relating to commercial real estate listings and transactions, could change the way commercial real estate
transactions are done. This has occurred to some extent in the residential real estate market as online brokerage and/or
auction companies have eroded part of the market for traditional residential real estate brokerage firms. The proliferation of
large amounts of data on the Internet could also devalue the information that we gather and disseminate as part of our
business model and may harm certain aspects of our investment brokerage business in the event that principals of
transactions prefer to transact directly with each other. Further, the rapid dissemination and increasing transparency of
information, particularly for public companies, increases the risks to our business that could result from negative media or
announcements about ethics lapses, improper behavior or other operational problems, which could lead clients to terminate
or reduce their relationships with us.

New laws or regulations or changes in existing laws or regulations or the application thereof could adversely affect our
businesses, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.

We are subject to numerous federal, state, local and foreign regulations specific to the services we perform in our
business, as well as laws of broader applicability, such as securities, financial services and employment laws. In general,
the brokerage of real estate transactions requires us to maintain applicable licenses where we perform these services. If we
fail to maintain our licenses, conduct these activities without a license, or violate any of the regulations covering our
licenses, we may be required to pay fines (including treble damages in certain states), return commissions received or have
our licenses suspended or revoked. We could also be subject to disciplinary or other actions in the future due to claimed
noncompliance with these regulations, which could have a material adverse effect on our operations and profitability.

Our business is also governed by various laws and regulations, limiting the manner in which prospective clients may
be contacted, including federal and state “Do Not Call” and “Do Not Fax” regulations. We may be subject to legal claims
and governmental action if we are perceived to be acting in violation of these laws and regulations. We may also be subject
to claims to the extent individual employees or investment sales and financing professionals breach or fail to adhere to
Company policies and practices designed to maintain compliance with these laws and regulations. The penalties for
violating these laws and regulations can be material and could result in changes to the ways in which we are able to contact
prospective clients.

As the size and scope of commercial real estate transactions have increased significantly during the past several
years, both the difficulty of ensuring compliance with numerous licensing regimes and the possible loss resulting from non-
compliance have increased. New or revised legislation or regulations applicable to our business, both within and outside of
the U.S., as well as changes in administrations or enforcement priorities may have an adverse effect on our business. Such
new or revised legislation or regulations applicable to our business may impact transaction volumes and values, increase
the costs of compliance or prevent us from providing certain types of services in certain jurisdictions or in connection with
certain transactions or clients. For example, legislation which limits or prohibits dual agency could have an adverse impact
on our revenue. We are unable to predict how any of these new laws, rules, regulations and proposals will be implemented
or in what form, or whether any additional or similar changes to laws or regulations, including the interpretation or
implementation thereof, will occur in the future. Risks of legislative changes, including as a result of interpretive guidance
or other directives from the current administration, and new laws, regulations and interpretations may also come into effect.
The impact of any new or revised legislation or regulations under the current administration is unknown. Any such action
could affect us in substantial and unpredictable ways and could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

Human Resource and Personnel Risks

If we are unable to attract and retain qualified and experienced managers, investment sales and financing
professionals, our growth may be limited, and our business and operating results could suffer.

Our most important asset is people, and our continued success is highly dependent upon the efforts of our managers
and investment sales and financing professionals. If these managers or investment sales and financing professionals depart,
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we will lose the substantial time and resources we have invested in training and developing those individuals and our
business, financial condition and results of operations may suffer. Additionally, such departures may have a
disproportionate adverse effect on our operations if our most experienced investment sales and financing professionals do
not remain with us or if departures occur in geographic areas where substantial amounts of our real estate brokerage
commissions and financing fee revenue are generated.

Our competitors frequently attempt to recruit our investment sales and financing professionals or change
commission structures in the marketplace. For a variety of reasons, the exclusive independent contractor and employment
arrangements we have entered into or may enter into with these professionals may not prevent these professionals from
departing and competing against us. As the majority of our investment sales and financing professionals are independent
contractors and we currently do not have employment agreements with most key employees, there is no assurance that we
will be able to retain their services. Similarly, most key employees in sales leadership roles, which includes our
experienced managers, currently do not have employment agreements and there is no assurance that we will be able to
retain their services.

An increasing component of our growth has also occurred through the recruiting, training and retention of key
experienced investment sales and financing professionals. Any future growth through attracting these types of professionals
will be partially dependent upon the continued availability of qualified candidates fitting the culture of our firm at
reasonable terms and conditions. However, our competitors continue to offer lucrative compensation packages and
commission splits to these key experienced professionals that we may not be able to match or exceed while also remaining
profitable. As a result, the professionals whom we would like to recruit or retain may not agree to terms and conditions
acceptable to us. In addition, as the recruitment and retention of what appear to be the key experienced professionals may
require substantial investment, such as lucrative compensation packages, support agreements, and commission splits, this
investment involves risks that the persons acquired will not perform in accordance with expectations and that business
judgments concerning the value, strengths and weaknesses of the persons recruited will prove incorrect, and therefore may
not have been worth the substantial investment.

If we lose the services of our executive officers or certain other members of our senior management team, we may not
be able to execute our business strategy.

Our success depends in a large part upon the continued service of our senior management team, who are important
to our vision, strategic direction and culture. Our current long-term business strategy was developed in large part by our
senior-level management team, some of whom have recently retired or will be transitioning to new positions, and depends
in part on their skills and knowledge to implement. Our focus on new growth and investment initiatives may require
additional management expertise to successfully execute our strategy. We may not be able to offset the impact on our
business of the loss of the services of our senior-level management team or other key officers or employees or be able to
recruit additional or replacement talent, which could negatively impact our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Our business could be hurt if we are unable to retain our business philosophy and culture of information sharing and
efforts to retain our philosophy and culture could adversely affect our ability to maintain and grow our business.

Our policy of information sharing, matching properties with large pools of investors and the emphasis that we place
on our clients, our people and our culture define our business philosophy and differentiates our services from that of our
competitors. Various factors could adversely affect this culture. If we do not continue to develop and implement the right
processes and tools to manage our changing enterprise and maintain this culture, our ability to compete successfully and
achieve our business objectives could be impaired, which could negatively impact our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

The concentration of sales among our top investment sales and financing professionals could lead to losses if we are
unable to retain them.

Our most successful investment sales and financing professionals are responsible for a significant percentage of our
revenue. They also serve as mentors and role models, and provide invaluable training for younger professionals, which is
an integral part of our culture. This concentration among our top investment sales and financing professionals of real estate
brokerage commissions and financing fees revenue can lead to greater and more concentrated risk of loss if we are unable
to retain them, and could have a material adverse impact on our business and financial condition. Furthermore, many of our
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investment sales and financing professionals work in teams. If a team leader or manager leaves our Company, his or her
team members may leave with the team leader or manager.

Most of our sales professionals are independent contractors, not employees, and if laws, regulations or rulings mandate
that they be employees, our business would be adversely impacted.

Most of our investment sales professionals are retained as independent contractors, and we are subject to the Internal
Revenue Service regulations and applicable state law guidelines regarding independent contractor classification. These
regulations and guidelines are subject to judicial and agency interpretation, and it could be determined that the independent
contractor classification is inapplicable to some or all of our investment sales professionals. Further, if legal standards for
classification of these investment sales professionals as independent contractors change or appear to be changing, it may be
necessary to modify our compensation or commission structure for these investment sales professionals in some or all of
our markets, including paying additional compensation or reimbursing expenses. If we are forced to classify these
investment sales professionals as employees, we would also become subject to laws regarding employee classification and
compensation, and to claims regarding overtime, minimum wage, and meal and rest periods. We could also incur
substantial costs, penalties and damages due to future challenges by current or former investment sales professionals to our
classification or compensation practices. Any of these outcomes could result in substantial costs to us, could significantly
impair our financial condition and our ability to conduct our business as we choose, and could damage our reputation and
impair our ability to attract clients and investment sales and financing professionals.

Fraud, or theft, which is difficult to detect and deter, could harm us by impairing our ability to attract and retain clients
and subjecting us to significant legal liability and reputational harm.

If our employees or investment sales and financing professionals engage in misconduct, our business could be
adversely affected. It is not always possible to deter misconduct, and the precautions we take to deter and prevent this
activity may not be effective in all cases. If our employees or investment sales and financing professionals were to engage
in unethical business practices, improperly use, disseminate, fail to disseminate or disclose information provided by our
clients, we could be subject to regulatory sanctions, suffer serious harm to our reputation, financial position and current
client relationships and significantly impair our ability to attract future clients. These events could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations. To the extent any fraud or theft of funds or misconduct result in
losses that exceeds our insurance coverage, our business could be materially adversely affected.

Internal Business Risks

We may fail to successfully differentiate our brand from those of our competitors, which could adversely affect our
revenue.

The value of our brand and reputation is one of our most important assets. An inherent risk in maintaining our brand
is we may fail to successfully differentiate the scope and quality of our service and product offerings from those of our
competitors, or we may fail to sufficiently innovate or develop improved products or services that will be attractive to our
clients. Additionally, given the rigors of the competitive marketplace in which we operate, there is the risk we may not be
able to continue to find ways to operate more productively and more cost-effectively, including by achieving economies of
scale, or we will be limited in our ability to further reduce the costs required to operate on a nationally coordinated
platform.

Our attempts to expand our services and businesses may not be successful and we may expend significant resources
without corresponding returns.

We intend to expand our specialty groups, particularly multi-tenant retail, office, industrial and hospitality, as well
as various niche segments, including multifamily tax credit, affordable housing, student housing, manufactured housing,
seniors housing and self-storage. We also plan to grow our financing services provided through our subsidiary, Marcus &
Millichap Capital Corporation. We expect to incur expenses relating to acquisitions, recruitment, training, and expanding
our markets and services. The planned expansion of services and platforms requires significant resources, and there can be
no assurance we will compete effectively, attract or train a sufficient number of professionals to support the expansion, or
operate these businesses profitably. We may incur significant expenses for these plans without corresponding returns,
which would harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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If we experience significant growth in the future, such growth may be difficult to sustain and may place significant
demands on our administrative, operational and financial resources.

If we experience significant growth in the future, such growth could place additional demands on our resources and
increase our expenses, as we will have to commit additional management, operational and financial resources to maintain
appropriate operational and financial systems to adequately support expansion. There can be no assurance we will be able
to manage our expanding operations effectively or we will be able to maintain or accelerate our growth, and any failure to
do so could adversely affect our ability to generate revenue and control our expenses, which could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, we may have to delay, alter or eliminate the
implementation of certain aspects of our growth strategy due to events beyond our control, including, but not limited to,
changes in general economic conditions and commercial real estate market conditions. Such delays or changes to our
growth strategy may adversely affect our business.

Our growth plan includes completing acquisitions, which may or may not happen depending on the acquisition
opportunities that are available in the marketplace.

Our ability to grow by acquiring companies or assets and by making investments to complement our existing
businesses will depend upon the availability of suitable acquisition candidates. If we are unable to find suitable acquisition
candidates, if we are unable to attract the interest of such candidates, or if we are unable to successfully negotiate and
complete such acquisitions, that could limit our ability to grow.

If we acquire businesses in the future, we may experience high transaction and integration costs, the integration process
may be disruptive to our business and the acquired businesses may not perform as we expect.

From time to time, we pursue strategic acquisitions to add and enhance our real estate brokerage and financing
service offerings. The companies we have acquired have generally been regional or specialty firms that expand our network
of investing and financing professionals and/or provide further diversification to our brokerage and financing services. Our
acquisition structures may include deferred and/or contingent consideration payments in future periods that are subject to
the passage of time or achievement of certain financial performance metrics and other conditions. Acquisitions also
frequently involve significant costs related to integrating culture, information technology, accounting, reporting and
management services and rationalizing personnel levels. If we are unable to fully integrate the culture, accounting,
reporting and other systems of the businesses we acquire, we may not be able to effectively manage them, and our financial
results may be materially adversely affected.

In addition, the acquisitions of businesses involve risks that the businesses acquired will not perform in accordance
with expectations, that the expected synergies associated with acquisitions will not be achieved, that we will experience
attrition from professionals licensed or associated with the acquired companies and that business judgments concerning the
value, strengths and weaknesses of the businesses acquired will prove incorrect, which could have an adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

A majority of our revenue is derived from transaction fees, which are not long-term contracted sources of recurring
revenue and are subject to external economic conditions and declines in those engagements could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

We historically have earned principally all our revenue from real estate brokerage transactions and financing fees.
We expect that we will continue to rely heavily on revenue from these sources for substantially all our revenue for the
foreseeable future. A decline in the number of transactions completed or in the value of the commercial real estate we sell
could significantly decrease our revenue, which would adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

If we are unable to retain existing clients and develop new clients, our financial condition may be adversely affected.

We are substantially dependent on long-term client relationships and on revenue received for services provided for
them. Our listing agreements generally expire within six months and depend on the cooperation of the client during the
pendency of the agreement, as is typical in the industry. In this competitive market, if we are unable to maintain these
relationships or are otherwise unable to retain existing clients and develop new clients, our business, results of operations
and/or financial condition may be materially adversely affected. Historically, a global economic downturn and weaknesses
in the markets in which our clients and potential clients compete have led to a lower volume of transactions and fewer real
estate clients generally, which makes it more difficult to maintain existing and establish new client relationships. These
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effects could increase again in the wake of the continuing political and economic uncertainties in the U.S. and in other
countries.

We may face significant liabilities and/or damage to our professional reputation as a result of litigation allegations and
negative publicity.

As a licensed real estate broker, we and our licensed professionals and brokers are subject to regulatory due
diligence, disclosure and standard-of-care obligations. The actual or perceived failure to fulfill these obligations could
subject us or our professionals and brokers to litigation from parties who attempted to or in fact financed, purchased or sold
properties that we or they brokered, managed or had some other involvement. We could become subject to claims by those
who either wished to participate or did participate in real estate transactions alleging that we did not fulfill our regulatory,
contractual or other legal obligations. We also face potential conflicts of interest claims when we represent both the buyer
and the seller in a transaction.

We depend on our business relationships and our reputation for integrity and high-caliber professional services to
attract and retain clients. As a result, allegations by private litigants or regulators, whether the ultimate outcome is
favorable or unfavorable to us, as well as negative publicity and press speculation about us or our investment activities,
whether or not valid, may harm our reputation and damage our business prospects. In addition, if any lawsuits were
brought against us and resulted in a finding of substantial legal liability, it could materially, adversely affect our business,
financial condition or results of operations or cause significant reputational harm to us, which could materially impact our
business.

Some of these litigation risks may be mitigated by the commercial insurance we maintain in amounts we believe are
appropriate. However, in the event of a substantial loss, our commercial insurance coverage and/or self-insurance reserve
levels might not be sufficient to pay the full damages, or the scope of available coverage may not cover certain types of
claims. Further, the value of otherwise valid claims we hold under insurance policies could become uncollectible in the
event of the covering insurance company’s insolvency, although we seek to limit this risk by placing our commercial
insurance only with highly-rated companies. Any of these events could negatively impact our business, financial condition
or results of operations.

Failure to appropriately deal with actual or perceived conflicts of interest could adversely affect our businesses.

Outside of our employees and investment sales and financing professionals, our reputation is one of our most
important assets. As we have expanded the scope of our services, we increasingly must address potential, actual or
perceived conflicts of interest relating to the services we provide to our existing and potential clients. For example,
conflicts may arise between our position as an advisor to both the buyer and seller in commercial real estate sales
transactions or in instances when a potential buyer requests that we represent them in securing the necessary capital to
acquire an asset we are selling for another client, or when a capital source takes an adverse action against an owner client
that we are advising in another matter. From time to time, we also advise or represent entities and parties affiliated with us
in commercial real estate transactions which also involve clients who are unaffiliated with us. In this context, we may be
subject to complaints or claims of a conflict of interest. While we believe we have attempted to adopt various policies,
controls and procedures to address or limit actual or perceived conflicts, these policies and procedures may not be
adequate, require excessive expenditures and may not be adhered to by our employees. Appropriately dealing with conflicts
of interest is complex and difficult and our reputation could be damaged and cause us to lose existing clients or fail to gain
new clients if we fail, or appear to fail, to deal appropriately with conflicts of interest, which could have an adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Technology and Cybersecurity Risks

If we do not respond to technological innovations or changes or upgrade our technology systems, our growth prospects
and results of operations could be adversely affected.

To remain competitive, we must continue to enhance and improve the functionality, features and security of our
technology infrastructure. Infrastructure upgrades may require significant capital investment outside of the normal course
of business. In the future, we will likely need to improve and upgrade our technology, database systems and network
infrastructure in order to allow our business to grow in both size and scope. Without such improvements, our operations
might suffer from unanticipated system disruptions, slow performance or unreliable service levels, any of which could
negatively affect our ability to provide rapid customer service. We may face significant delays in introducing new services,
investment sales professional tools and enhancements. Moreover, if we do not keep pace with the rapid innovations and
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changes taking place in information technology in our industry, we could be at a competitive disadvantage. If competitors
introduce new products and services using new technologies, our proprietary technology and systems may become less
competitive, and our business may be harmed. In addition, the expansion and improvement of our systems and
infrastructure may require us to commit substantial financial, operational and technical resources, with no assurance that
our business will improve.

Interruption, data security breaches, or failure of our information technology, communications systems or data services
could hurt our ability to effectively provide our services, which could damage our reputation and harm our operating
results.

Our business requires the continued operation of information technology and communication systems and network
infrastructure. Our ability to conduct our business may be adversely impacted by disruptions or breaches to these systems
or infrastructure. Our information technology and communications systems are vulnerable to damage or disruption from
fire, power loss, telecommunications failure, system malfunctions, computer viruses, third-party misconduct or penetration
and criminal acts, natural disasters such as hurricanes, earthquakes, wildfires and floods, acts of war or terrorism, or other
events which are beyond our control. For example, in August 2021, we were subject to a cybersecurity attack on our
information technology systems. We immediately engaged cybersecurity experts to secure and restore all essential systems
and were able to do so with only minimal disruption to our business. There are no guarantees, however, that if we were to
experience another cybersecurity attack on our information technology systems, we would be able restore all essential
systems with only minimal disruption to our business again or that we would not incur significant expense in connection
with an attack.

In addition, the operation and maintenance of these systems and networks is, in some cases, dependent on third-party
technologies, systems and service providers for which there is no certainty of uninterrupted availability. Any of these
events could cause system interruption, delays, and loss of critical data or intellectual property (such as our client lists and
information, business methods and research) and may also disrupt our ability to provide services to or interact with our
clients, and we may not be able to successfully implement contingency plans that depend on communication or travel. We
have business continuity plans and backup systems to reduce the potentially adverse effect of such events, but our business
continuity planning may not be sufficient and cannot account for all eventualities. A catastrophic event that results in the
destruction or disruption of any of our data centers or our critical business or information technology systems could
severely affect our ability to conduct normal business operations and, as a result, our future operating results could be
adversely affected. Our business relies significantly on the use of commercial real estate data. We produce much of this
data internally, but a significant portion is purchased from third-party providers for which there is no certainty of
uninterrupted availability. A disruption of our ability to provide data to our professionals and/or clients could damage our
reputation, and our operating results could be adversely affected.

Failure to maintain the security of our information and technology networks, including personally identifiable and
client information could adversely affect us.

Security breaches and other disruptions could compromise our information and expose us to liability, which could
cause our business and reputation to suffer. In the ordinary course of our business, we collect and store sensitive data,
including our proprietary business information and intellectual property and that of our clients and personally identifiable
information of our employees and contractors, in our data centers and on our networks. The secure processing,
maintenance and transmission of this information is critical to our operations. Despite our security measures, our
information technology and infrastructure have been subject to, and may in the future be vulnerable to various cyber-
attacks, such as hacking, spoofing and phishing attacks and ransomware attacks, or our systems may be breached due to
employee error, malfeasance or other disruptions. Additionally, since 2020, a portion of our workforce has worked
remotely in some capacity in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. This arrangement introduces potential new
vulnerabilities to cyber threats. A significant actual or potential theft, loss, fraudulent use or misuse of client, employee or
other personally identifiable data, whether by third parties or as a result of employee malfeasance or otherwise, non-
compliance with our contractual or other legal obligations regarding such data or a violation of our privacy and security
policies with respect to such data could result in significant costs, fines, litigation or regulatory actions against us. Such an
event could additionally disrupt our operations and the services we provide to clients, damage our reputation, and cause a
loss of confidence in our services, which could adversely affect our business, revenue and competitive position.
Additionally, we increasingly rely on third-party data storage providers, including cloud storage solution providers,
resulting in less direct control over our data. Such third parties may also be vulnerable to security breaches and
compromised security systems, which could adversely affect our reputation.

We rely on the collection and use of personally identifiable information from clients to conduct our business. We
disclose our information collection and dissemination practices in a published privacy statement on our websites, which we
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may modify from time to time. We may be subject to legal claims, government action, including under the Racketeer
Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, and damage to our reputation if we act or are perceived to be acting
inconsistently with the terms of our privacy statement, client expectations or the law. In the event we or the vendors with
which we contract to provide services on behalf of our clients were to suffer a breach of personally identifiable
information, our customers could terminate their business with us. Further, we may be subject to claims to the extent
individual employees or investment sales and financing professionals breach or fail to adhere to Company policies and
practices and such actions jeopardize any personally identifiable information. In addition, concern among potential buyers
or sellers about our privacy practices could keep them from using our services or require us to incur significant expense to
alter our business practices or educate them about how we use personally identifiable information.

Investment Risks

Our investments in marketable debt securities, available-for-sale are subject to certain risks which could affect our
overall financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

We invest a portion of our available cash and cash equivalent balances in money market funds, some of which have
floating net asset values or by purchasing marketable debt securities with maturities in excess of three months in a managed
portfolio in a variety of fixed or variable rate debt securities, including U.S. government and federal agency securities and
corporate debt securities. The primary objective of our investment activity is to maintain the safety of principal, provide for
future liquidity requirements while maximizing yields without significantly increasing risk. Should any of our investments
or marketable debt securities lose value or have their liquidity impaired, it could affect our overall financial condition.
Additionally, should we choose or are required to sell these securities in the future at a loss, our consolidated operating
results or cash flows may be affected.

We may be deemed to be an investment company due to our investments in marketable debt securities, available-for-sale
and, if such a determination were made, we would become subject to significant regulation that would adversely affect
our business.

We may be deemed to be an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940 if, among other
things, we own “investment securities” with a value exceeding 40% of the value of our total assets, unless we qualify under
a particular exemption or safe harbor. We invest part of our available cash and cash equivalents in a variety of short-term,
investment-grade securities, some of which may qualify as “investment securities” under the Investment Company Act.
Investment companies are subject to registration under the Investment Company Act and compliance with a variety of
restrictions and requirements. If we were to be deemed an investment company we would become subject to these
restrictions and requirements, and the consequences of having been an investment company without registering under the
Investment Company Act could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations, as well as restrict our ability to sell and issue securities, borrow funds, engage in various transactions or other
activities and make certain investment decisions. In addition, we may incur significant costs or limitation on business
opportunities to avoid investment company status if an exemption from the Investment Company Act were to be
considered unavailable to us at a time when the value of our “investment securities” exceeds 40% of the value of our total
assets. We believe that we satisfy the conditions to be exempt from the Investment Company Act because, among other
things, we are engaged directly and primarily in a business other than that of investing, reinvesting, owning, holding or
trading in securities. However, absent an exemptive order from the SEC, our status of being exempt cannot be assured.

Risks Related to Our Founder

Our Chair and founder owns a significant portion of our common stock, which may prevent other stockholders from
influencing significant decisions, and the sale of such stock may depress the price of our common stock and impair our
ability to raise capital.

George M. Marcus, our Chair and founder beneficially owns approximately 15.0 million shares, or approximately
38% of our outstanding common stock as of December 31, 2022. Because of Mr. Marcus’s substantial ownership of our
outstanding common stock, he may be able to significantly influence the outcome of corporate actions requiring
stockholder approval, including the election and removal of directors, so long as he controls a significant portion of our
common stock. Mr. Marcus’ shares may also be sold in a public or private sale which could adversely affect the prevailing
market price of our common stock and could impair our ability to raise capital through the future sales of equity securities.
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Our Chair may have actual or potential conflicts of interest because of his position with MMC.

George M. Marcus serves as the Chair of our Board of Directors and is Chair of the Board of Directors of MMC. In
addition, Mr. Marcus beneficially owns substantially all of the outstanding stock of MMC. His position at MMC and the
ownership of any MMC equity or equity awards creates or may create the appearance of conflicts of interest if and when he
is faced with decisions that could have different implications for MMC and for us.

General Risks

Our existing goodwill and other intangible assets could become impaired, which may require us to take non-cash
charges.

Under current accounting guidelines, we evaluate our goodwill and other intangible assets for potential impairment
annually or more frequently if circumstances indicate impairment may have occurred. We perform the required annual
goodwill impairment evaluation in the fourth quarter of each year. Any impairment of goodwill or other intangible assets
would result in a non-cash charge against earnings, and such charge could materially adversely affect our reported results
of operations and the market price of our common stock in future periods.

In preparing our financial statements we make certain assumptions, judgments, and estimates that affect amounts
reported in our consolidated financial statements, which, if not accurate, may significantly impact our financial results.

We make assumptions, judgments, and estimates that affect amounts reported in our consolidated financial
statements. These assumptions, judgments, and estimates are drawn from historical experience and various other factors
that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances as of the date of the consolidated financial statements. Actual
results could differ materially from our estimates, and such differences could significantly impact our financial results.

Changes in United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“U.S. GAAP”) could adversely affect our
financial results and may require significant changes to our internal accounting systems and processes.

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP. These principles are subject to
interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”), the SEC and various bodies formed to interpret and
create appropriate accounting principles and guidance. The FASB periodically issues new accounting standards on a
variety of topics. For information regarding new accounting standards, please refer to Note 2 — “Accounting Policies and
Recent Accounting Pronouncements” of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. These and other such standards
generally result in different accounting principles, which may significantly impact our reported results or could result in
variability of our financial results.

We are obligated to develop and maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting. If we fail to
maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report financial results or prevent
fraud.

Effective internal controls are necessary to provide reliable financial reports and to assist in the effective prevention
of fraud. Any inability to provide reliable financial reports or prevent fraud could harm our business.

We must annually evaluate our internal control procedures to satisfy the requirements of Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, which requires our management and auditors to assess the effectiveness of internal controls.
If we fail to remedy or maintain the adequacy of our internal controls when such standards are modified, supplemented, or
amended from time to time, we could be subject to regulatory scrutiny, civil or criminal penalties, or shareholder litigation.

In addition, failure to maintain adequate internal controls could result in financial statements that do not accurately
reflect our financial condition. There can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to complete the work necessary
to fully comply with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act or that our management and external auditors will
continue to conclude that our internal controls are effective.

The price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly, and you could lose all or part of your investment.

Volatility in the market price of our common stock may prevent shareholders from being able to sell shares of our
common stock at or above the price sharcholders paid for them. The market price for our common stock could fluctuate
significantly for various reasons, including quarterly and annual variations in our results and those of our competitors;
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changes to the competitive landscape; estimates and projections by the investment community; the arrival or departure of
key personnel, especially the retirement or departure of key senior investment sales and financing professionals and
management; the introduction of new services by us or our competitors; acquisitions, strategic alliances or joint ventures
involving us or our competitors; and general global and domestic economic, credit and liquidity issues, market or political
conditions.

As aresult of these factors, investors in our common stock may not be able to resell their shares at or above the price
paid to acquire the stock or may not be able to resell them at all. These broad market and industry factors may materially
reduce the market price of our common stock, regardless of our operating performance. In addition, price volatility may be
greater if the public float and trading volume of our common stock is low.

If securities analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they downgrade our Company or our
sector, or we do not meet expectations of the analysts the price of our common stock could decline.

The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that industry or financial
analysts publish about us or our business. These research reports about our business may contain information about us,
including, but not limited to estimates of our future results of operations and stock price. We do not control these analysts,
nor can we assure that any analysts will continue to follow us, issue research reports or publish information that accurately
predicts our actual results or stock price. Furthermore, if we do not meet the expectations of industry or financial analysts
or one or more of the analysts who do cover us downgrades our Company or our industry, or the stock of any of our
competitors, the price of our common stock could decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of our
Company, we could lose visibility in the market, which in turn could cause the price of our common stock to decline.

Significant fluctuations in our revenue and net income may make it difficult for us to achieve steady earnings growth
on a quarterly or an annual basis, which may make the comparison between periods difficult and may cause the price of
our common stock to decline.

We have experienced and may continue to experience fluctuations in revenue and net income as a result of many
factors, including, but not limited to, economic conditions, capital market disruptions, the timing of transactions, revenue
mix and the timing of additional selling, general and administrative expenses to support growth initiatives. We provide
many of our services pursuant to contracts that typically expire within six months and that are dependent on the client’s
cooperation. Consequently, many of our clients can terminate or significantly reduce their relationships with us on very
short notice for any reason.

We plan our capital and operating expenditures based on our expectations of future revenue and, if revenue are
below expectations in any given quarter or year, we may be unable to adjust capital or operating expenditures in a timely
manner to compensate for any unexpected revenue shortfall, which could have an immediate material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operation.

Future sales or the perception of future sales of a substantial amount of our common stock may depress the price of
shares of our common stock.

Future sales, issuances of shares under our Amended and Restated 2013 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan and 2013
Employee Stock Purchase Plan or the availability of a substantial amount of our common stock in the public market could
adversely affect the prevailing market price of our common stock and could impair our ability to raise capital through the
future sales of equity securities.

We may issue shares of our common stock or other securities from time to time as consideration for future
acquisitions and investments. If any such acquisition or investment is significant, the number of shares of our common
stock, or the number or aggregate principal amount, as the case may be, of other securities that we may issue may in turn be
substantial. We may also grant registration rights covering those shares of our common stock or other securities in
connection with any such acquisitions and investments.

We cannot predict the size of future issuances or sales of our common stock or the effect, if any, that future
issuances and sales of our common stock will have on the market price of our common stock. Sales of substantial amounts
of our common stock (including shares of our common stock issued in connection with an acquisition), or the perception
that such sales could occur, may adversely affect prevailing market prices for our common stock.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties

Our principal executive offices are located at 23975 Park Sorrento, Suite 400, Calabasas, California 91302 where
our telephone number is (818) 212-2250. We lease all of our brokerage offices (typically less than 12,000 square feet) and
other support facilities in United States and Canada. We believe that our current facilities are adequate to meet our needs
through the end of 2023; however, as we continue to evaluate our office footprint, our lease needs could change during the
year.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are involved in claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of our business, some of which involve
claims for damages that are substantial in amount. Most of these litigation matters are covered by our insurance policies,
which contain deductibles, exclusions, claim limits, and aggregate policy limits. Such litigation and other proceedings may
include, but are not limited to, actions relating to commercial relationships, standard brokerage disputes such as the alleged
failure to disclose physical or environmental defects or property expenses or contracts, the alleged inadequate disclosure of
matters relating to the transaction such as the relationships among the parties to the transaction, potential claims or losses
pertaining to the asset, vicarious liability based upon conduct of individuals or entities outside of our control, general fraud
claims, conflicts of interest claims, employment law claims, including claims challenging the classification of our sales
professionals as independent contractors, claims alleging violations of state consumer fraud statutes, and intellectual
property. While the ultimate liability for these legal proceeding cannot be determined, we review the need for an accrual
for loss contingencies quarterly, and record an accrual for litigation related losses where the likelihood of loss is both
probable and estimable. We do not believe, based on information currently available to us, that the final outcome of these
proceedings will have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

For information on our legal proceedings, see Note 15 — “Commitments and Contingencies” of our accompanying

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part 11, Item 8 — “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item S. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Market Information

Our common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “MMI”.

As of February 13, 2023, there were 20 stockholders of record, and the closing price of our common stock was
$36.62 per share as reported on the NYSE.

Dividends

On February 16, 2022, the Board of Directors declared a semi-annual regular dividend of $0.25 per share and a
special dividend of $1.00 per share, payable on April 4, 2022, to stockholders of record at the close of business on March 8,
2022. The second of the semi-annual regular dividends was paid on October 6, 2022, to stockholders of record at the close
of business on September 15, 2022. As a result, the Company paid $60.4 million in dividends to outstanding shareholders
during the twelve months ended December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2022, $2.2 million remains to be paid upon
vesting of stock awards.

On February 9, 2023, the Board of Directors declared a semi-annual regular dividend of $0.25 per share, payable on
April 6, 2023, to stockholders of record at the close of business on March 14, 2023. Based on the estimated number of
shares to be outstanding as of March 14, 2023, the dividends declared aggregated $10.4 million, including dividend
equivalents totaling $0.5 million to be paid on unvested restricted stock and deferred stock units granted under the 2013
Plan. These dividend equivalents will be paid when the underlying restricted stock and deferred stock units vest. Any and
all future dividends are subject to review and approval by the Board of Directors.

Stock Performance Graph

The performance graph shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise
subject to the liabilities under that Section and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing of
Marcus & Millichap, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or the Exchange Act.

The following graph shows a comparison from December 31, 2017 through December 31, 2022 of the cumulative
total return for our common stock, the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index (“S&P 500 Index”) and an industry peer group
for this period.

The graph assumes that $100 was invested at the market close on December 31, 2017 in the common stock of
Marcus & Millichap Inc., the S&P 500 Index and the peer group, and assumes reinvestment of dividends. The stock price
performance of the following graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance. The industry peer group
is comprised of the following publicly-traded real estate services companies: CBRE, Colliers, Cushman (from August 2018
when it began trading), JLL, and Newmark (from December 2017 when it began trading) (collectively “Peer Group”). We
selected our Peer Group based on companies that represent our primary competitors with certain business lines reasonably
comparable to ours and based on how long they have been publicly-traded.
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COMPARISON OF 5§ YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among Marcus & Millichap, Inc, the S&P 500 Index, and a Peer Group
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12/31/17 12/31/18 12/31/19 12/31/20 12/31/21 12/31/22
Marcus & Millichap, Inc. 100.00 105.27 114.23 114.17 157.80 109.17
S&P 500 Index 100.00 95.62 125.72 148.85 191.58 156.88
Peer Group 100.00 86.65 128.20 119.03 208.45 135.96

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer

On August 2, 2022, our Board of Directors authorized a common stock repurchase program of up to $70 million. As
of December 31, 2022, $40.4 million of common stock remains eligible for repurchase under the program.

Share repurchase activity during the three months ended December 31, 2022 was as follows:

Total Number of

Shares Purchased as Approximate Dollar
Part of Publicly Value of Shares That May
Total Number of Average Price Announced Plans or Yet Be Purchased Under

Periods Shares Purchased") Paid Per Share Programs the Plans or Programs
October 1, 2022 - October 31, 2022 431,700 $ 3451 431,700 $ 47,526,291
November 1, 2022 - November 30, 2022 103,343 35.13 103,343 43,895,957
December 1, 2022 - December 31, 2022 102,433 3431 102,433 40,381,973
Total 637,476 637,476 § 40,381,973

" Excludes shares withheld for employee taxes upon vesting of stock-based awards. Stock repurchases under our

program may be made through open market and privately negotiated transactions at times and in such amounts as
management deems appropriate. The timing and actual number of shares repurchased will depend on a variety of
factors including price, corporate and regulatory requirements, capital availability, and other market conditions. The
stock repurchase program does not have an expiration date and may be limited or terminated at any time without prior
notice.
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Item 6. [RESERVED]
Not applicable.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our
audited consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes thereto included elsewhere herein. The following
discussion contains, in addition to historical information, forward-looking statements that include risks and uncertainties.
Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain
factors, including those factors set forth under Item 1A — “Risk Factors” and Item 7 — “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Overview — Factors Affecting Our Business” of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Overview
Our Business

We are a leading national brokerage firm specializing in commercial real estate investment sales, financing,
research, and advisory services. We have been the top commercial real estate investment broker in the United States based
on the number of investment transactions for more than 15 years. As of December 31, 2022, we had 1,904 investment sales
and financing professionals that are primarily exclusive independent contractors operating in 81 offices, who provide real
estate brokerage and financing services to sellers and buyers of commercial real estate. We also offer market research,
consulting, and advisory services to our clients. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we closed 12,272 investment
sales, financing and other transactions with total sales volume of approximately $86.3 billion. During the year ended
December 31, 2021, we closed 13,255 investment sales, financing, and other transactions with total sales volume of
approximately $84.4 billion.

We generate revenue by collecting real estate brokerage commissions upon the sale, and fees upon the financing of
commercial properties and by providing consulting, advisory, and other real estate services. Real estate brokerage
commissions are typically based upon the value of the property, and financing fees are typically based upon the size of the
loan. During the year ended December 31, 2022, approximately 90% of our revenue was generated from real estate
brokerage commissions, 9% from financing fees, and 1% from other real estate related services.

Acquisitions

We continue to pursue opportunities to increase our market presence through the execution of our growth strategies
by targeting markets based on population, employment, level of commercial real estate sales, inventory and competitive
opportunities where we believe the markets will benefit from our commercial real estate investment sales, financing,
research, and advisory services.

Factors Affecting Our Business

Our business and our operating results, financial condition, and liquidity are significantly affected by the number
and size of commercial real estate investment sales and financing transactions that we close in any period. The number and
size of these transactions are affected by our ability to recruit and retain investment sales and financing professionals,
identify and contract properties for sale, and identify those that need financing and refinancing. We principally monitor the
commercial real estate market through four factors, which generally drive our business. The factors are the economy,
commercial real estate supply and demand, capital markets, and investor sentiment and investment activity.

The Economy
Our business is dependent on economic conditions within the markets in which we operate. Changes in the economy

on a global, national, regional, or local basis can have a positive or negative impact on our business. Economic indicators
and projections related to job growth, unemployment, interest rates, retail spending, and consumer confidence trends can
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have a positive or negative impact on our business. Overall market conditions, including global trade, interest rate changes,
inflation, and job creation, can affect investor sentiment and, ultimately, the demand for our services from investors in real
estate.

The close of 2022 brought positive signs of receding inflationary pressure as pressure on the Consumer Price Index
(CPI), Producer Price Index (PPI), and Personal Consumption Expenditure (PCE) readings all abated. All inflation
measures remain well above the Federal Reserve’s target rates, but their rate of growth has eased in recent months,
supporting the Federal Reserve’s ability to moderate their rate increase regimen. Various economic indicators continue to
send mixed signals about the near-term economic outlook. The two best known signals of an ensuing recession remain in
contradiction. The treasury rate yield curve inverted early in the fourth quarter last year and short-term treasury rates
remain higher than longer term rates signaling a possible downturn, but the unemployment rate is at a 54-year low of 3.4%
as of January 2023 indicating labor market strength. Other measures are mixed as well. The manufacturing outlook index is
delivering contraction readings, while job creation, inflation-adjusted personal consumption and other metrics suggest
growth. This inconsistency among indicators has confounded economist forecasts for 2023, resulting in a variety of
contradictory outlooks. Within that context, many commercial real estate investors stepped to the sidelines in the second
half of 2022 to await clarity and a stabilization of interest rates.

Looking forward into 2023, economist forecasts of economic growth for the year range between -1.4% and +2.0%
with a consensus of +0.5% per the January 10 Blue Chip economist survey. This range suggests that the economy may
experience a mild recession or could achieve a soft landing. Regardless, the consensus suggests the U.S. economy will
remain relatively flat in the coming year. Given the Federal Reserve’s restrictive monetary policies, it is likely that most
commercial real estate investors would perceive even mild growth in 2023 positively. Sustained job creation in the coming
year, together with rising wages and a deep well of cash savings have the potential to sustain demand for multifamily
housing as well as industrial and retail space demand. Positive commercial real estate fundamentals will be a key ingredient
supporting commercial real estate investment activity.

Commercial Real Estate Supply and Demand

Our business is dependent on the willingness of investors to invest in or sell commercial real estate, which is affected
by many factors beyond our control. These factors include the supply of commercial real estate, coupled with user demand
for these properties, and the performance of real estate assets, when compared with other investment alternatives, such as
stocks and bonds.

Fourth quarter national average occupancy levels decreased in apartment, office, and industrial properties, reflecting
elevated uncertainty surrounding the economy and interest rate climate. Retail space demand remained positive, pushing
the occupancy rate back into alignment with pre-pandemic levels. Elevated apartment and industrial construction levels
have been a significant factor weighing on overall occupancy, but concerns surrounding high inflation and a potential
recession have restrained both household formation and space leasing commitments. Below-average consumer and
business sentiment suggest that demand will remain below normal over the short term, but a recent uptick in sentiment and
reduced rate increases by the Federal Reserve have the potential to reinvigorate space demand in 2023. Rent growth has
been tempered by these same economic and monetary policy forces, moderating the aggressiveness of investment buyer
underwriting. As a result, the bid-ask spread between buyers and sellers has widened and fourth quarter commercial real
estate transactions activity was significantly reduced from the record heights achieved in 2021. Economic crosscurrents and
continuing questions about the Federal Reserve’s rate policies have the potential to create additional hurdles for investors
in 2023, but should increased evidence of an economic “soft landing” emerge, pent-up investor demand could surface.

Capital Markets

Credit and liquidity issues in the financial markets have a direct impact on the flow of capital to the commercial real
estate market. Real estate purchases are often financed with debt, and as a result, credit and liquidity impact transaction
activity and prices. Movements of interest rates in one direction, whether increasing or decreasing, could adversely or
positively affect the operations and income potential of commercial real estate properties, as well as lender and equity
underwriting for real estate investments. These changes directly influence investor demand for commercial real estate
investments.

In its effort to battle inflation last year, the Federal Reserve initiated its most aggressive interest rate increase cycle

since 1980. The Federal Reserve appears to have completed the heavy lifting of raising the Federal Overnight Rate by 425
basis points in 2022 and has begun to signal a potential shift to a fine-tuning strategy in 2023. On February 1, 2023, the
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Federal Reserve limited its rate increase to 25 basis points. While the Federal Reserve indicated that additional rate
increases will likely occur in 2023, the smaller rate increase alleviated some pressure on commercial real estate lenders.
The combination of a comparatively low 10-year treasury rate, together with an expectation of a slower pace of Federal
Reserve movements in 2023 allows commercial real estate lenders to tighten their safety margins and to reduce their rates.
Lending liquidity remains constrained compared to early 2022, but the lending climate is improving with rates edging
lower and capital availability increasing, potentially boosting commercial real estate transactional liquidity as the year
progresses.

Investor Sentiment and Investment Activity

We facilitate investors' buying, selling, and financing properties in order to generate commissions. Investors’ desires
and need to engage in real estate transactions are dependent on many factors that are beyond our control. The economy,
supply and demand for properly positioned properties, available credit, and market events impact investor sentiment and,
therefore, transaction velocity. In addition, our private clients, who make up the largest source of revenue, are often
motivated to buy, sell and/or refinance properties due to personal circumstances, such as death, divorce, partnership
breakups, and estate planning.

Commercial real estate sales activity declined sharply in the fourth quarter of 2022 as the cost of debt capital rose
above commercial real estate yields in many instances. The disconnect between sellers seeking prices similar to the
beginning of 2022, before the Federal Reserve increased interest rates by more than 425 basis points, and buyers
contending with the higher borrowing costs slowed activity. This disconnect between buyers and sellers remains a
headwind to transaction activity, but as the Federal Reserve slows its rate increases, the market may recalibrate and
navigate a price discovery process. In addition, as economic clarity emerges and the risk of a recession balances out against
the prospect of a “soft landing,” investors may have increased comfort deploying capital. Office properties, particularly
those in the urban core, face the greatest uncertainty, while more inflation-resistant properties such as apartments, self-
storage and hotels, particularly in growth markets, are better positioned to sustain buyer interest. Sales of “defensive” assets
such as single-tenant net lease properties backed by high credit tenants and medical office assets have also maintained
buyer interest. Ultimately, the market velocity will be dictated by a combination of the economic outlook, Federal Reserve
action, interest rates, and the narrowing of the buyer/seller expectation gap. If the Federal Reserve raises rates minimally
throughout the year and the economy avoids a significant recession, we believe commercial real estate sales activity should
return toward its historical norm in 2023.

Seasonality

Our real estate brokerage commissions and financing fees have tended to be seasonal and, combined with other
factors, can affect an investor’s ability to compare our financial condition and results of operations on a quarter-by-quarter
basis. Historically, this seasonality has generally caused our revenue, operating income, net income, and cash flows from
operating activities to be lower in the first half of the year and higher in the second half of the year, particularly in the
fourth quarter. The concentration of earnings and cash flows in the last six months of the year, particularly in the fourth
quarter, is due to an industry-wide focus of clients to complete transactions towards the end of the calendar year. This
historical trend can be disrupted both positively and negatively by major economic events, political events, natural disasters
or pandemics such as the COVID-19 pandemic, which may impact, among other things, investor sentiment for a particular
property type or location, volatility in financial markets, current and future projections of interest rates, attractiveness of
other asset classes, market liquidity and the extent of limitations or availability of capital allocations for larger property
buyers, among others. Private client investors may accelerate or delay transactions due to personal or business-related
reasons unrelated to economic events. In addition, our operating margins are typically lower during the second half of each
year due to our commission structure for some of our senior investment sales and financing professionals. These senior
investment sales and financing professionals are on a graduated commission schedule that resets annually, pursuant to
which higher commissions are paid for higher sales volumes. During the year ended December 31, 2022, seasonal
fluctuations were disrupted by changes in overall market conditions and rising interest rates, and going forward our
historical pattern of seasonality may or may not continue to the same degree experienced in prior years.

Operating Segments

We follow the guidance for segment reporting, which requires reporting information on operating segments in
interim and annual financial statements. Substantially all of our operations involve the delivery of commercial real estate
services to our customers including real estate investment sales, financing and consulting and advisory services.
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Management makes operating decisions, assesses performance and allocates resources based on an ongoing review of these
integrated operations, which constitute only one operating segment for financial reporting purposes.

Key Financial Measures and Indicators
Revenue

Our revenue is primarily generated from our real estate investment sales business. In addition to real estate
brokerage commissions, we generate revenue from financing fees and from other revenue, which are primarily comprised
of consulting and advisory fees.

Because our business is transaction oriented, we rely on investment sales and financing professionals to continually
develop leads, identify properties to sell and finance, market those properties, and close the sale timely to generate a
consistent flow of revenue. While our sales volume is impacted by seasonality factors, the timing of closings is also
dependent on many market and personal factors unique to a particular client or transaction, particularly clients transacting
in the $1 million to $10 million private client market segment. These factors can cause transactions to be accelerated or
delayed beyond our control. Further, commission rates earned are generally inversely related to the value of the property
sold. As a result of our expansion into the middle and larger transaction market segments, we have seen our overall
commission rates fluctuate from period-to-period as a result of changes in the relative mix of the number and volume of
investment sales transactions closed in the middle and larger transaction market segments as compared to the $1 million to
$10 million private client market segment. These factors may result in period-to-period variations in our revenue that differ
from historical patterns.

A small percentage of our transactions include retainer fees and/or breakage fees. Retainer fees are credited against a
success-based fee paid upon the closing of a transaction or a breakage fee. Transactions that are terminated before
completion will sometimes generate breakage fees, which are usually calculated as a set amount or a percentage of the fee
we would have received had the transaction closed.

Real Estate Brokerage Commissions

We earn real estate brokerage commissions by acting as a broker for commercial real estate owners seeking to sell or
investors seeking to buy properties. Revenue from real estate brokerage commissions is typically recognized at the close of
€SCrow.

Financing Fees

We earn financing fees by securing financing on purchase transactions or by securing refinancing of our clients’
existing mortgage debt. We recognize financing fee revenue when the loan closes and we have no remaining significant
obligations for performance in connection with the transaction.

To a lesser extent, we also earn equity advisory services, loan sales, and ancillary fees associated with financing
activities. We no longer hold any mortgage servicing rights, but prior to the third quarter of 2022, recognized mortgage
servicing revenue upon the acquisition of a servicing obligation. We generated mortgage servicing fees through the
provision of collection, remittance, recordkeeping, reporting, and other related mortgage servicing functions, activities, and
services.

Other Revenue

Other revenue includes fees generated from consulting, advisory, and other real estate services performed by our
investment sales professionals, as well as referral fees from other real estate brokers. Revenue from these services is
recognized as the services are performed and completed.

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses consist of cost of services, selling, general and administrative expenses and depreciation and
amortization. The significant components of our expenses are further described below.

38



Cost of Services

The majority of our cost of services expense is variable commissions paid to our investment sales professionals and
compensation-related costs related to our financing activities. Commission expenses are directly attributable to providing
services to our clients for investment sales and financing services. Most of our investment sales and financing professionals
are independent contractors and are paid commissions; however, because there are some who are initially paid a salary and
certain of our financing professionals are employees, costs of services also include employee-related compensation,
employer taxes, and benefits for those employees. The commission rates we pay to our investment sales and financing
professionals vary based on individual contracts negotiated and are generally higher for the more experienced
professionals. Some of our most senior investment sales and financing professionals also have the ability to earn additional
commissions after meeting certain annual financial thresholds. These additional commissions are recognized as cost of
services in the period in which they are earned. Payment of a portion of these additional commissions are generally
deferred for a period of one to three years, at our election, and paid at the beginning of the second and fourth calendar year.
Cost of services also includes referral fees paid to other real estate brokers where we are the principal service provider.
Cost of services, therefore, can vary based on the commission structure of the independent contractors that closed
transactions in any particular period.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

The largest expense component within selling, general and administrative expenses is personnel expenses for our
management team and sales and support staff. In addition, these costs include facilities expenses (excluding depreciation
and amortization), staff related expenses, sales, marketing, legal, telecommunication, network, data sources, transaction
costs related to acquisitions, changes in fair value for contingent and deferred consideration, forgiveness of advances and
loans issued to investment sales and financing professionals and other administrative expenses. Also included in selling,
general and administrative are expenses for stock-based compensation to non-employee directors, employees, and
independent contractors (i.e. investment sales and financing professionals) under the Amended and Restated 2013 Omnibus
Equity Incentive Plan (“2013 Plan”) and the 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”).

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation expense consists of depreciation recorded on our computer software and hardware and furniture,
fixtures, and equipment. Depreciation is recorded over estimated useful lives ranging from three to seven years for assets.
Amortization expense consists of (i) amortization recorded on our mortgage servicing rights (“MSRs”) using the interest
method over the period that servicing income is expected to be received and (ii) amortization recorded on intangible assets
amortized on a straight-line basis using a useful life between one and seven years.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net primarily consists of interest income, net gains or losses on our deferred compensation
plan assets, realized gains and losses on our marketable debt securities, available-for-sale, foreign currency gains and
losses, and other non-operating income and expenses.

Interest Expense

Interest expense primarily consists of interest expense associated with the stock appreciation rights (“SARs”)
liability and our credit agreement.

Provision for Income Taxes

We are subject to U.S. and Canadian federal taxes and individual state and local taxes based on the income
generated in the jurisdictions in which we operate. Our effective tax rate fluctuates as a result of the change in the mix of
our activities in the jurisdictions we operate due to differing tax rates in those jurisdictions and the impact of permanent
items, including principally compensation charges, qualified transportation fringe benefits, uncertain tax positions, meals
and entertainment, and tax-exempt deferred compensation plan assets. Our provision for income taxes includes the windfall
tax benefits and shortfall expenses, net, from shares issued in connection with our 2013 Plan and ESPP.

We record deferred taxes, net based on the tax rate expected to be in effect at the time those items are expected to be
recognized for tax purposes.
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Results of Operations

Following is a discussion of our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. The tables
included in the period comparisons below provide summaries of our results of operations. The period-to-period
comparisons of financial results are not necessarily indicative of future results.

Key Operating Metrics

We regularly review a number of key metrics to evaluate our business, measure our performance, identify trends
affecting our business, formulate financial projections, and make strategic decisions. We also believe these metrics are
relevant to investors’ and others’ assessment of our financial condition and results of operations. During the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, we closed more than 12,000, 13,200, and 8,900 investment sales, financing, and other
transactions, respectively, with total sales volume of approximately $86.3 billion, $84.4 billion, and $43.4 billion,
respectively. Such key metrics for real estate brokerage and financing activities (excluding other transactions) are as
follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Real Estate Brokerage:
Average Number of Investment Sales Professionals 1,817 1,925 1,920
Average Number of Transactions per Investment Sales Professional 5.01 5.01 3.28
Average Commission per Transaction $ 128,450 § 121,319 § 100,694
Average Commission Rate 1.72 % 1.73 % 1.98 %
Average Transaction Size (in thousands) $ 7,473 $ 6,994 $ 5,097
Total Number of Transactions 9,111 9,652 6,288
Total Sales Volume (in millions) $ 68,088 $ 67,507 $ 32,052

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Financing ":
Average Number of Financing Professionals 86 85 86
Average Number of Transactions per Financing Professional 24.92 29.11 22.59
Average Fee per Transaction $ 44,546 $ 37,959 $ 33,747
Average Fee Rate 0.74 % 0.81 % 0.85 %
Average Transaction Size (in thousands) $ 5,984 $ 4,691 $ 3,948
Total Number of Transactions 2,143 2,474 1,943
Total Financing Volume (in millions) $ 12,823 $ 11,605 $ 7,672

(1) Operating metrics calculated excluding certain financing fees not directly associated to transactions.
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Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Below are key operating results for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the results for the year ended
December 31, 2021 (dollars in thousands):

Revenue:

Real estate brokerage
commissions

Financing fees

Other revenue
Total revenue
Operating expenses:

Cost of services

Selling, general and
administrative

Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Other income, net
Interest expense

Income before provision for income
taxes

Provision for income taxes
Net income
Adjusted EBITDA

Year Year
Ended Percentage Ended Percentage
December 31, of December 31, of Change
2022 Revenue 2021 Revenue Dollar Percentage
$ 1,170,310 89.9 % $ 1,170,969 903% $  (659) 0.1)%
112,978 8.7 109,690 8.5 3,288 3.0 %
18,422 1.4 15,781 1.2 2,641 16.7 %
1,301,710 100.0 1,296,440 100.0 5,270 0.4 %
850,894 65.4 840,209 64.8 10,685 1.3 %
300,009 23.0 255,154 19.7 44,855 17.6 %
13,406 1.0 11,721 0.9 1,685 14.4 %
1,164,309 89.4 1,107,084 85.4 57,225 52 %
137,401 10.6 189,356 14.6 (51,955) 27.4)%
5,336 0.4 4,527 0.3 809 17.9 %
(708) (0.1) (580) — (128) 22.1 %
142,029 10.9 193,303 14.9 (51,274) (26.5)%
37,804 2.9 50,833 3.9 (13,029)  (25.6)%
§ 104,225 8.0% $ 142,470 11.0% $ (38,245) (26.8)%
$ 165,504 127 % $ 213,002 164 % $ (47,498) (22.3)%

M Adjusted EBITDA is not a measurement of our financial performance under U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (“U.S. GAAP”) and should not be considered as an alternative to net income, operating income, or any
other measures derived in accordance with U.S. GAAP. For a definition of Adjusted EBITDA and a reconciliation
of Adjusted EBITDA to net income, see “Non-GAAP Financial Measure.”

Revenue

Our total revenue was $1,301.7 million in 2022 compared to $1,296.4 million in 2021, an increase of $5.3 million,
or 0.4%. Total revenue increased as a result of increases in financing fees and other revenue, as described below.

Real estate brokerage commissions. Revenue from real estate brokerage commissions decreased to $1,170.3 million
in 2022 from $1,171.0 million in 2021, a decrease of $0.7 million, or 0.1%. While total sales volume increased by 0.9%,

the average transaction size increased by 6.8% due to a larger proportion of transactions closed from the Middle

Transaction Market segment. The total number of investment sales transactions decreased 5.6%.

Financing fees. Revenue from financing fees increased to $113.0 million in 2022 from $109.7 million in 2021, an
increase of $3.3 million, or 3.0%. The increase was driven by a 10.5% increase in financing volume, partially offset by a
seven basis points reduction in average commission rates due in part to fees from certain larger loan transactions. Financing
volume increase was driven by a 27.6% increase in the average transaction size that was partially offset by a 13.4%
decrease in the number of financing transactions.

Other revenue. Other revenue increased to $18.4 million in 2022 from $15.8 million in 2021, an increase of $2.6
million, or 16.7%. The increase was primarily driven by increases in consulting and advisory services during 2022,

compared to 2021.
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Operating expenses

Our total operating expenses were $1,164.3 million in 2022 compared to $1,107.1 million in 2021, an increase of
$57.2 million, or 5.2%. The increase was due to increases in cost of services, which are variable commissions paid to our
investment sales professionals, and compensation-related costs in connection with our financing activities, selling, general
and administrative costs and depreciation and amortization expense, as described below.

Cost of services. Cost of services increased to $850.9 million in 2022 from $840.2 million in 2021, an increase of
$10.7 million, or 1.3%. Cost of services as a percent of total revenue increased to 65.4% for 2022 compared to 64.8% for
2021. These increases were primarily due to a higher proportion of transactions closed by our more senior investment sales
and financing professionals, who earned additional commissions after meeting certain annual financial thresholds earlier in
the year.

Selling, general and administrative expense. Selling, general and administrative expense in 2022 increased $44.9
million, to $300.0 million from $255.2 million in 2021. The increase was primarily due to increases in (i) compensation
related costs, primarily driven by increases in staff salaries and stock-based compensation; (ii) business development,
marketing, and other support related to the long-term retention of our sales and financing professionals; and (iii) net change
in value of contingent and deferred consideration in connection with our acquisition activities. These increases were
partially offset by decreases in (i) bonus accruals and (ii) legal costs.

Depreciation and amortization expense. Depreciation and amortization expense increased to $13.4 million in 2022
from $11.7 million in 2021, an increase of $1.7 million, or 14.4%, principally related to additional amortization of
intangible assets related to recent acquisitions and additional amortization of mortgage servicing rights due to the
cancellation notices received on certain servicing contracts.

Other income, net

Other income, net increased to $5.3 million in 2022 from $4.5 million in 2021. The increase was primarily driven by
a $5.6 million increase in interest income on our investments in marketable debt securities at higher interest rates. This
increase was partially offset by an unfavorable change in the carrying value of the assets held in the rabbi trust for $3.2
million and an unfavorable change in foreign currency losses of $1.1 million.

Interest expense

Interest expense increased to $0.7 million in 2022 from $0.6 million in 2021. The increase was primarily due to an
increase in interest expense on the SARs liability due to higher interest rates partially offset by lower average principal
outstanding.

Provision for income taxes

The provision for income taxes was $37.8 million for 2022 compared to $50.8 million in 2021, a decrease of $13.0
million, or (25.6)%. The effective tax rate for 2022 was 26.6%, compared with 26.3% in 2021. The increase in the effective
tax rate was primarily due to the change in the relationship of permanent nondeductible items and other adjustments
relative to income before provision for income taxes, partially offset by an increase in windfall tax benefits, net related to
the settlement of stock-based awards.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

A discussion regarding our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the results for
the year ended December 31, 2020 can be found under Item 7 — “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Results of Operations” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2021, filed with the SEC on March 1, 2022, which is available on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.

Non-GAAP Financial Measure

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we include a non-GAAP financial measure, adjusted earnings before interest
income/expense, taxes, depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation and other non-cash items, or Adjusted
EBITDA. We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income before (i) interest income and other, including net realized gains
(losses) on marketable debt securities, available-for-sale and cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, (ii) interest
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expense, (iii) provision for income taxes, (iv) depreciation and amortization, (v) stock-based compensation, and (vi) non-
cash MSR activity. We use Adjusted EBITDA in our business operations to evaluate the performance of our business,
develop budgets, and measure our performance against those budgets, among other things. We also believe that analysts
and investors use Adjusted EBITDA as a supplemental measure to evaluate our overall operating performance. However,
Adjusted EBITDA has material limitations as a supplemental metric and should not be considered in isolation, or as a
substitute for analysis of our results as reported under U.S. GAAP. We find Adjusted EBITDA to be a useful management
metric to assist in evaluating performance, because Adjusted EBITDA eliminates items related to capital structure, taxes
and non-cash items. In light of the foregoing limitations, we do not rely solely on Adjusted EBITDA as a performance
measure and also consider our U.S. GAAP results. Adjusted EBITDA is not a measurement of our financial performance
under U.S. GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net income, operating income, or any other measures
calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA is not calculated in the same manner by all companies and
may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures used by other companies. A reconciliation of the most directly
comparable U.S. GAAP financial measure, net income, to Adjusted EBITDA is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Net income $ 104,225 $ 142,470 $ 42,838
Adjustments:
Interest income and other (7,951) (2,496) (5,048)
Interest expense 708 580 900
Provision for income taxes 37,804 50,833 16,526
Depreciation and amortization 13,406 11,721 10,899
Stock-based compensation 17,312 10,361 9,905
Non-cash MSR activity — (467) (321)
Adjusted EBITDA® $ 165,504 $ 213,002 $ 75,699

M Other includes net realized gains (losses) on marketable debt securities, available-for-sale.

@ Non-cash MSR activity includes the assumption of servicing obligations.

@ The decrease in Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021 is
primarily due to a higher proportion of selling, general and administrative expenses compared to total revenue.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash cash flows from operations,
marketable debt securities, available-for-sale, and, if necessary, borrowings under our credit agreement. In order to enhance
yield to us, we have invested a portion of our cash in money market funds and fixed and variable income debt securities in
accordance with our investment policy approved by the Board of Directors. Certain of our investments in money market
funds may not maintain a stable net asset value and may impose fees on redemptions and/or gating fees. To date, the
Company has not experienced any restrictions or gating fees on its ability to redeem funds from money market funds.
Although we have historically funded our operations through operating cash flows, there can be no assurance that we can
continue to meet our cash requirements entirely through our operations, cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash,
proceeds from the sale of marketable debt securities, available-for-sale, or availability under our credit agreement.
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Cash Flows

Our total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash balance decreased by $146.3 million to $235.9 million at
December 31, 2022, compared to $382.1 million at December 31, 2021. The following table sets forth our summary cash
flows for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 13,629 $ 255,903 $ 38,088
Net cash used in investing activities (53,975) (108,356) (17,228)
Net cash used in financing activities (105,555) (5,919) (10,330)
Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and
restricted cash (366) (2,640) (48)
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (146,267) 138,988 10,482
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of year 382,140 243,152 232,670
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of year $ 235,873 $ 382,140 $ 243,152
Operating Activities

2022 Compared to 2021. Cash flows provided by operating activities were $13.6 million in 2022 compared to
$255.9 million in 2021. The $242.3 million decrease in cash flows from operating activities during 2022 compared to 2021
was primarily due to increased operating expenses as discussed above, an increase in advances and loans to our investment
sales and financing professionals, a higher amount of bonuses and deferred compensation and commissions paid in 2022
related to outperformance in 2021, and an increase in estimated income tax payments.

Investing Activities

2022 Compared to 2021. Cash flows used in investing activities were $54.0 million in 2022 compared to $108.4
million in 2021. The $54.4 million decrease in cash flows used in investing activities for 2022 compared to 2021 was
primarily due to a net decrease of $72.2 million in net cash used to purchase securities in 2022 compared to the same
period in 2021, partially offset by $12.5 million paid in 2022 for the acquisition of a business that did not occur in 2021,
and an increase of $4.8 million in purchases of property and equipment in 2022 compared to 2021.

Financing Activities

2022 Compared to 2021. Cash flows used in financing activities were $105.6 million in 2022 compared to $5.9
million in 2021. The $99.7 million additional cash flow used in financing activities for 2022 was primarily due to the
payment of $60.4 million of dividends and $29.0 million in stock repurchases in 2022, which did not occur in 2021 and an
increase of $6.4 million of taxes paid related to net share settlement of stock-based awards due to settlement of Deferred
Stock Units. See Note 11 — “Stock-Based Compensation Plans” of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information.

Ligquidity

We believe that our existing balances of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, cash flows expected to be
generated from our operations, proceeds from the sale of marketable debt securities, available-for-sale, and borrowings
available under the Credit Agreement (defined below) will be sufficient to satisfy our operating requirements for at least
the next 12 months. If we need to raise additional capital through public or private debt or equity financings, strategic
relationships, or other arrangements, this capital might not be available to us in a timely manner, on acceptable terms, or at
all. Our failure to raise sufficient capital when needed could prevent us from funding acquisitions or otherwise financing
our growth or operations. In addition, our SARs agreements have provisions which could accelerate repayment of
outstanding principal and accrued interest and impact our liquidity. As of December 31, 2022, cash, cash equivalents, and
restricted cash and marketable debt securities, available-for-sale, aggregated $557.9 million, and we had $59.5 million of
borrowing capacity under our credit agreement.
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Credit Agreement

We have a Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association for a $60.0 million principal amount
senior secured revolving credit facility that is guaranteed by all of our domestic subsidiaries and matures on June 1, 2025
(the “Credit Agreement”). See Note 15 — “Commitments and Contingencies” of our Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information on the Credit Agreement.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company, in connection with the Strategic Alliance with MTRCC,, has agreed to provide loan opportunities
that may be funded through MTRCC’s agreement with Fannie Mae, which requires MTRCC to guarantee a portion of each
funded loan. On a loan-by-loan basis, the Company, at its option, can agree to assume a portion of MTRCC guarantee
obligation of loan opportunities presented to and closed by MTRCC. As of December 31, 2022, the Company has agreed to
a maximum aggregate guarantee obligation of $55.7 million relating to loans with an unpaid balance of $334.0 million. The
maximum guarantee obligation is not representative of the actual loss we would incur. The Company would be liable for
this amount only if all of the loans for which it is providing a guarantee to MTRCC were to default and all of the collateral
underlying these loans was determined to be without value at the time of settlement. The Company records a loan-loss
obligation and is required to provide cash collateral to MTRCC for this obligation.

Material Cash Requirements

The following table summarizes current and long-term material cash requirements as of December 31, 2022, which
we expect to fund primarily with operating cash flows (in thousands):

More
Less than 1-3 3-5 Than 5
Total 1 Year Years Years Years Other @
Operating lease liabilities, including

imputed interest " $ 90,734 $ 19,663 $ 37,011 $ 2208 $ 11,974 $ —
SARSs liability (principal and interest) 21,383 2,323 5,175 3,704 10,181 —
Deferred commissions payable ! 76,180 31,024 45,156 — — —
Deferred compensation liability 6,661 493 294 134 1,235 4,505
Contingent consideration 7,067 1,726 4,811 530 — —
Deferred consideration © 5,119 3,633 1,486 — — —
Other © 16,115 11,134 2,130 1,430 415 1,006

$ 223259 § 69,996 $ 96,063 $ 27,884 § 23,805 $ 5,511

(1) See Note 4 — “Operating Leases” of our Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

@ Forecasted principal payments are based on each participant’s estimated retirement age and current contractual
interest rate of 3.630% as of January 1, 2022 and reflect required payments that resulted from the retirement of
certain executives. See Note 7 — “Selected Balance Sheet Data” of our Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

@ Includes short-term and long-term deferred commissions payable. See Note 7 — “Selected Balance Sheet Data” of
our Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

@ Represents current estimated payouts for participants currently receiving payments based on their elections at the
time of deferral. We hold assets in a rabbi trust of $9.6 million to settle outstanding amounts when they become due.
Amounts assume no increase or decrease in the liability due to future returns or losses. See Note 7 — “Selected
Balance Sheet Data” of our Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

®) Relates to contingent and deferred consideration in connection with our business acquisitions. See Note 6 —
“Acquisitions, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” and Note 9 — “Fair Value Measurements” of our Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

© Relates to amounts that may be advanced to sales and financing professionals and uncertain tax positions. See Note
12 — “Income Taxes” and Note 15 — “Commitments and Contingencies” of our Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

M Amounts in Other represent amounts where payments are dependent on future events, which may occur at any time
from less than 1 year to more than 5 years and relates to our deferred compensation liability and uncertain tax
positions. Payments for deferred compensation liability are based on the participants’ elections at the time of deferral
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and may not begin before separation from service. The net liability for uncertain tax positions may be payable by us
in the future. The ultimate resolution depends on many factors and assumptions; accordingly, we are not able to
reasonably estimate the timing of such payments, if any.

Other than operating expenses, including those accrued and payable as December 31, 2022, cash requirements for
2023 are expected to consist primarily of capital expenditures for the future acquisitions, if any, payment of dividends,
payments for stock repurchases, and advances to our investment sales and financing professionals.

Inflation

Our commissions and other variable costs related to revenue are primarily affected by real estate market supply and
demand, which may be affected by uncertain or changing economic and market conditions, including inflation/deflation
arising in connection with and in response to various macroeconomic factors and impact of rising interest rates on the
broader economy.

The annual inflation rate in the U.S. increased to 9.1% in June 2022, the highest annual inflation rate since
November 1981, but decreased to 6.5% in December 2022. As a result, during 2022, the Federal Reserve increased the
federal funds rate by 425 basis points and indicated its intention to continue to increase interest rates in an effort to combat
inflation, which had an adverse impact on commercial real estate transactions in the second half of 2022. Inflation has
increased the wages paid to our employees and independent contractors. Furthermore, our clients are also affected by
inflation and rising interest rates. A significant and continued increase in interest rates and inflation would be expected to
have a negative impact on client demand for commercial real estate.

Critical Accounting Policies; Use of Estimates

We prepare our financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. In applying many of these accounting
principles, we make assumptions, estimates and/or judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue,
and expenses in our consolidated financial statements. We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience and
other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. These assumptions, estimates and/or judgments,
however, are often subjective and our actual results may change based on changing circumstances or changes in our
analyses. If actual amounts are ultimately different from our estimates, the revisions are included in our results of
operations for the period in which the actual amounts become known.

We believe that the critical accounting policies discussed below involve a greater degree of judgment or complexity
than our other accounting policies. Accordingly, these are the policies we believe are the most critical to aid in fully
understanding and evaluating our consolidated financial condition and results of operations. See the notes to our
consolidated financial statements for a summary of our significant accounting policies.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities
for the future tax consequences attributable to (i) differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing
assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis, and (ii) operating losses and tax credit carryforwards. We measure
existing deferred tax assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which
we expect to have temporary differences realized or settled. We recognize in the provision for income taxes, the effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates in the period that includes the enactment date. We periodically
evaluate deferred tax assets to assess whether it is likely that the deferred tax assets will be realized. In determining
whether a valuation allowance is required, we consider the timing of deferred tax reversals, current year taxable income,
and historical performance. Valuation allowances are provided against deferred tax assets when it is more-likely-than-not
that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. Our valuation allowance is related principally to losses
incurred in our Canadian operations. Future results of operations of the Canadian business will impact valuation allowances
in the future.

Due to the nature of our business, which includes activity in the U.S. and Canada, incorporating numerous states and
provinces as well as local jurisdictions, our tax position can be complex. As such, our effective tax rate is subject to
changes as a result of fluctuations in the mix of our activity in the various jurisdictions in which we operate including
changes in tax rates, state apportionment, tax related interest and penalties, valuation allowances and other permanent
items, including net windfalls and shortfalls related to stock-based compensation. Calculating some of the amounts
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involves a high degree of judgment. Our state taxes, net of federal benefit, has ranged from 4.3% to 5.0% over the past 3
years.

We evaluate our tax positions quarterly. The threshold for recognizing the benefits of tax return positions in the
financial statements is “more likely than not” to be sustained by the taxing authority and requires measurement of a tax
position meeting the more-likely-than-not criterion, based on the largest benefit that is more than 50% likely to be realized.
We assess our inventory of tax positions with respect to all applicable income tax issues for all open tax years (in each
respective jurisdiction) and determine whether uncertain tax positions are required to be recognized in our consolidated
financial statements.

The above factors create volatility in our effective tax rate from quarter to quarter and have caused our effective tax
rates to range from 26.3% to 27.8% over the past three years.

We recognize interest and penalties incurred as income tax expense. See Note 12 — “Income Taxes” of our Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

Leases

Our leases consist of purpose built-out office space, which reverts to the lessor upon termination of the lease and
operating leases for autos. We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Right-of-use assets (“ROU assets™)
represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent our contractual obligation to
make lease payments under the lease. Operating leases are included in operating lease ROU assets, non-current, and
operating lease liabilities current and non-current captions in the consolidated balance sheets.

Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized on the commencement date based on the present value of
lease payments over the lease term. Lease agreements may contain periods of free rent or reduced rent, predetermined fixed
increases in the minimum rent and renewal or termination options, all of which add complexity and impact the
determination of the lease term and lease payments to be used in calculating the lease liability. Certain facility leases
provide for rental escalations related to increases in the lessors’ direct operating expenses. We use the implicit rate in the
lease when determinable. As most of our leases do not have a determinable implicit rate, determining the rate to be used in
our calculations is judgmental. We use an estimated incremental borrowing rate based on borrowing options under our
credit agreement and apply a spread over treasury rates for the indicated term of the lease based on the information
available on the commencement date of the lease. As a result, the incremental borrowing rate has and will continue to be
impacted by market interest rates. The weighted average incremental borrowing rate was 3.9% in 2022 and 2.9% in 2021.
Any payments for completed improvements, determined to be owed by the lessor, net of incentives received, are recorded
as an increase to the ROU asset and considered in the determination of the lease cost.

We have lease agreements with lease and non-lease components, which are accounted for as a single lease
component. Lease cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments consist of
common area costs, insurance, taxes, utilities, parking, and other lease related costs, which are determined principally
based on billings from landlords.

Investments in Marketable Debt Securities, Available-for-Sale

We maintain a portfolio of investments in a variety of fixed and variable rate debt securities, including U.S.
treasuries, U.S. government sponsored entities, corporate debt, asset-backed securities, and other. We consider our
investments in marketable debt securities to be available-for-sale, and accordingly, are recorded at their fair values. We
determine the appropriate classification of investments in marketable debt securities at the time of purchase. Interest along
with amortization of purchase premiums and accretion of discounts from the purchase date through the estimated maturity
date, including consideration of variable maturities and contractual call provisions, are included in other income (expense),
net in the consolidated statements of operations. See Note 5 — “Investments in Marketable Debt Securities, Available-for-
Sale” of our Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information. We typically invest in highly rated
debt securities, and our investment policy generally limits the amount of credit exposure to any one issuer. The policy
requires substantially all investments to be investment grade, with the primary objective of minimizing the potential risk of
principal loss and matching long-term liabilities.

Unrealized losses on our marketable securities, available-for-sale, fluctuate based on changes in market interest rates
due the fixed interest rates of most of the securities. Unrealized losses aggregated $5,508,000 and $511,000 as of
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December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. We review our investment portfolio quarterly for all securities in an unrealized
loss position to determine if an impairment charge or credit reserve is required. We exclude accrued interest from both the
fair value and the amortized cost basis of marketable debt securities, available-for-sale, for the purposes of identifying and
measuring an impairment. An investment is impaired if the fair value is less than its amortized cost basis. Impairment
relating to credit losses is recorded through a reduction in the amortized cost of the security or an allowance for credit
losses and credit loss expense (included in selling, general and administrative expense), limited by the amount that the fair
value is less than the amortized cost basis. Impairment that has not been recorded as a credit loss is recorded through other
comprehensive income (loss), net of applicable taxes. We made an accounting policy election to not measure an allowance
for credit losses for accrued interest receivable. We evaluate write-off of accrued interest receivable by the major security-
type level at the time credit loss exists for the underlying security.

Determining whether a credit loss exists requires a high degree of judgment, and we consider both qualitative and
quantitative factors in making our determination. We evaluate our intent to sell, or whether we will more likely than not be
required to sell, the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis. For all securities in an unrealized loss position, we
evaluate, among other items, the extent and length of time the fair market value of a security is less than its amortized cost,
time to maturity, duration, seniority, the financial condition of the issuer including credit ratings, any changes thereto and
relative default rates and loss severity, leverage ratios, availability of liquidity to make principle and interest payments,
performance indicators of the underlying assets, analyst reports and recommendations, and changes in base and market
interest rates. If the qualitative and quantitative analysis is sufficient to conclude that an impairment related to credit losses
does not exist, we typically do not perform further quantitative analysis to estimate the present value of cash flows
expected to be collected from the debt security. Estimates of expected future cash flows are our best estimate based on past
events, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable economic forecasts. To date, the Company has not recorded any
credit losses or impairments on its portfolio of marketable securities, available for sale.

Contingent and Deferred Consideration

In connection with certain business acquisitions, the Company may enter into agreements to pay additional cash or
other consideration based on the achievement of certain performance measures and/or service and time requirements.
Contingent and deferred consideration in connection with the acquisition of a business is measured at fair value on the
acquisition date and remeasured at fair value each reporting period thereafter until the consideration is settled, with changes
in fair value recorded in selling, general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

In its determination of fair value for contingent and deferred consideration, the Company uses judgment in
determining the probability of achieving contractual EBITDA and other performance targets and the time frame in which
the settlements will occur. Further, judgment is used in determining the appropriate current and future interest rates to
apply in each situation. The Company estimated the probability of achievement of contractual EBITDA and other
performance targets was between 0% to 100.0% based on each acquisition’s historical and estimated future performance
and risk adjusted discount rates of between 6.0% to 7.0%, which resulted in a recorded fair value for the contingent
consideration of $7.1 million and $9.3 million as of December 31, 2022, and 2021, respectively. The Company estimated
the fair value of the deferred consideration using a discounted cash flow estimate using market rates, with the only
remaining condition on such payments being the passage of time which resulted in a recorded fair value of $5.1 million and
$9.8 million as of December 31, 2022, and 2021, respectively. The maximum undiscounted future settlements of
contingent and deferred consideration was $21.3 million at December 31, 2022, and the Company is uncertain as to the
extent of the volatility in the judgments and unobservable inputs will have on the ultimate settlement of these amounts in
the foreseeable future.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information regarding recent accounting pronouncements, see Note 2 — “Accounting Policies and Recent
Accounting Pronouncements” of our Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. We do not believe any of the other accounting pronouncements listed in that note will have a
significant impact on our business.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We maintain a portfolio of investments in a variety of fixed and variable debt rate securities, including U.S.
Treasuries, U.S. government sponsored entities, corporate debt, asset-backed securities, and other. As of December 31,
2022, the fair value of investments in marketable debt securities, available-for-sale was $322.0 million. The primary

48



objective of our investment activity is to maintain the safety of principal, and to provide for future liquidity requirements
while maximizing yields without significantly increasing risk. While some investments may be securities of companies in
foreign countries, all investments are denominated and payable in U.S. Dollars. We do not enter into investments for
trading or speculative purposes. While our intent is not to sell these investment securities prior to their stated maturities, we
may choose to sell any of the securities for strategic reasons including, but not limited to, anticipated capital requirements,
anticipation of credit deterioration, duration management and because a security no longer meets the criteria of our
investment policy. We do not use derivatives or similar instruments to manage our interest rate risk. We seek to invest in
high quality investments. The weighted average rating (exclusive of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash) was AA+
as of December 31, 2022. Maturities are maintained consistent with our short-, medium- and long-term liquidity objectives.

Currently, our portfolio of investments predominantly consists of fixed interest rate debt securities; however, a
portion of our investment portfolio may consist of variable interest rate debt securities. Our investments in fixed interest
rate debt securities are subject to various market risks. Changes in prevailing interest rates may adversely or positively
impact their fair market value should interest rates generally rise or fall. Accordingly, we also may have interest rate risk
with variable interest rate debt securities as the income produced may decrease if interest rates fall. Contraction in market
liquidity may adversely affect the value of portions of our portfolio and affect our ability to sell securities in the time
frames required and at acceptable prices. Uncertainty in future market conditions and interest rates may raise market
participant’s expectations of returns, thus impacting the value of securities in our portfolio as well. The following table sets
forth the impact on the fair value of our investments as of December 31, 2022 from changes in interest rates based on the
weighted average duration of the debt securities in our portfolio (in thousands):

Approximate Change in
Fair Value of Investments

Change in Interest Rates Increase (Decrease)
2% Decrease $ 5,094
1% Decrease $ 2,547
1% Increase $ (2,546)
2% Increase $ (5,091)

Due to the nature of our business and the manner in which we conduct our operations, we believe we do not face any
material interest rate risk with respect to other assets and liabilities, equity price risk, or other market risks. The functional
currency of our Canadian operations is the Canadian dollar. We are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk for the
settlement of transactions of the Canadian operations as well as unrealized translation adjustments. To date, realized
foreign currency exchange rate gains and losses have not been material.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

See pages beginning at F-1.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting,
as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f), including maintenance of (i) records that in reasonable detail
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets, and (ii) policies and procedures that provide
reasonable assurance that (a) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, (b) our receipts and
expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and our Board of Directors, and (c) we
will prevent or timely detect unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on
the financial statements.

Our management, with the supervision and participation of our chief executive officer (“CEO”) and chief financial
officer (“CFO”), has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a- 15(¢)
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and 15d- 15(e) under the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, based on
the criteria established under the Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) (2013 framework). Based on such evaluation, our management has
concluded that as of December 31, 2022, our disclosure controls and procedures are designed at a reasonable assurance
level and are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or
submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the
rules and forms of the SEC, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our
CEO and CFO, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting,
as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act.

Our system of internal control is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and preparation of our financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with United States
generally accepted accounting principles. Our management, including our CEO and CFO, assessed the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022. In conducting its assessment, management used the
criteria issued by COSO. Based on this assessment, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2022, our internal
control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria. The effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2022 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting
firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.

Management, including our CEO and CFO, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures, or our
internal control over financial reporting will prevent all error and fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived
and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.
Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and the benefit of controls
must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of
controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended December 31, 2022 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. We have not experienced
any significant impact to our internal controls over financial reporting despite the fact that many of our employees and
independent contractors are working in a hybrid environment. The design of our processes and controls allow for remote
execution with accessibility to secure data in support of the hybrid environment. We are continually monitoring and
assessing the situation to minimize the impact, if any, on the design and operating effectiveness on our internal controls.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired
control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource
constraints and that management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and
procedures relative to their costs. Internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving
financial reporting objectives because of the inherent limitations of any system of internal control. Internal control over
financial reporting is a process that involves human diligence and compliance and is subject to lapses of judgment and
breakdowns resulting from human failures. Internal control over financial reporting also can be circumvented by collusion
or improper overriding of controls. As a result of such limitations, there is risk that material misstatements may not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis by internal control over financial reporting. However, these inherent limitations are
known features of the financial reporting process. Therefore, it is possible to design into the process safeguards to reduce,
though not eliminate, this risk.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Executive Officers

The names and ages of our executive officers and directors as of February 27, 2023 are as follows:

Name Age Position(s)
Hessam Nadji 57 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Steven F. DeGennaro 59 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
John David Parker 42 Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, Eastern Division
Richard Matricaria 44 Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, Western Division
Gregory A. LaBerge 52 Senior Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer

Hessam Nadji

Mr. Nadji has served as President and Chief Executive Officer and as a director of the Company since March 2016.
He previously served as Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Strategy Officer. He joined the Company as Vice
President of Research in 1996 and held various other senior management roles through the years, including Chief
Marketing Officer and head of the Company’s specialty brokerage divisions. He played a leading role in the Company’s
initial public offering in 2013. Mr. Nadji received a B.S. in information management and computer science from City
University in Seattle and has over 35 years of experience working in the real estate industry.

Steven F. DeGennaro

Mr. DeGennaro has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since August 2020. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. DeGennaro held the position of Chief Financial Officer at InTouch Health, a venture-backed
telehealth company, from March 2018 to July 2020. Prior to that he served as Chief Financial Officer at Xirrus, Inc., a
manufacturer of wireless networking products, from January 2004 to November 2017. He also served as Chief Financial
Officer at Calix Networks, Inc. and Xircom, Inc. Mr. DeGennaro began his career at KPMG. Mr. DeGennaro holds a
B.B.A. in Accounting from the University of San Diego.

John David Parker

Mr. Parker has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, Eastern Division since June 2021.
Mr. Parker joined the firm in 2004 as a multifamily agent in the Manhattan office and transitioned to management in 2006.
In 2007, Mr. Parker opened the Company's Brooklyn office and took over responsibility for the New York regional offices
soon afterward. Mr. Parker was appointed Division Manager for the Northeast in 2016 and has been instrumental in driving
the Company's expansion in Canada. Mr. Parker holds a bachelor’s degree in operations and information systems
management from Pennsylvania State University.

Richard Matricaria

Mr. Matricaria has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, Western Division since June
2021. Mr. Matricaria joined the Company in 2000 as a retail broker for several years from 2002 to 2010 before moving to
management in 2010. From 2010 to 2016, Mr. Matricaria opened offices in Orlando and Tampa, and in 2016, Mr.
Matricaria moved to Chicago to oversee the Midwest Division. Mr. Matricaria relocated to the Company's headquarters in
Calabasas in 2019 as part of his expanded responsibilities. Mr. Matricaria received a B.B.A. in management from the
University of Alabama and earned an M.B.A. from St. Thomas University.

Gregory A. LaBerge

Mr. LaBerge has served as Senior Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer since 2015. Mr. LaBerge joined
the Company in 2005 as an investment broker, became a regional manager in 2008, and was named National Director of
our National Hospitality Group in 2012. Prior to that, he worked for 10 years as a management consultant, five years with
Ernst & Young, and for Diamond Technology Partners (now part of PricewaterhouseCoopers). His expertise was in
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working with Fortune 500 companies on strategic and operational initiatives. Mr. LaBerge received his B.A. degree in
economics from Northwestern University and his M.B.A. from the Kelley School of Business at Indiana University.

Other Proxy Information

Certain information required by this Item regarding our Audit Committee is incorporated herein by reference to
information appearing in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (“Proxy
Statement”), which information will appear under the caption entitled “Corporate Governance-Board Committees and
Charters.”

To comply with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, we will provide disclosure of delinquent Section 16(a) reports, if
any, in our Proxy Statement under the caption entitled “Other Matters—Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports” in the Proxy
Statement, and such disclosure, if any, is incorporated herein by reference.

Ethical Business Practices

We strive to conduct our business with integrity and the highest standards of ethics and governance that support our
values. We do so by promoting fair labor practices, upholding human rights, and complying with legal requirements,
including those that address bribery and corruption. We also implement policies, practices, and trainings that convey our
expectations and values and meet stakeholder needs.

As part of this effort, we adopted a Code of Ethics. The Code of Ethics does not attempt to identify every possible
category of ethical and legal behavior, but instead sets forth the Company’s clear expectations for ethical and honest
behavior. The Company is committed to legal compliance, fair dealing, and addressing internal and external ethical
concerns, which it does in part through its Ethics Hotline, which allows for anonymous reporting and direct communication
with the Company’s compliance officer. The Company’s expectations for ethics are further embedded into the Company’s
practices through cross-discipline education and trainings, which are provided at the individual, office, and Company-wide
levels.

The Code of Ethics can be found at https://ir.marcusmillichap.com/corporate-governance/governance-documents
and clicking on “Code of Ethics.”

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirements under Item 5.05(c) of Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or
waiver from, a provision of the Code of Ethics that applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer,
principal accounting officer or controller or persons performing similar functions by posting such information on our
website, at the address and location specified above.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to information appearing in our Proxy
Statement, which information will appear under the caption entitled “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” and
“Executive Compensation” in the Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to information appearing in our Proxy
Statement, which information will appear under the captions entitled “Principal Stockholders” in the Proxy statement.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes information about our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2022. All
outstanding awards relate to our common stock.

Number of
Securities
Remaining
Available
for Future
Number of Issuance
Securities Under Equity
to be Issued Weighted- Compensation
Upon Average Exercise Plans
Exercise of Price of (Excluding
Outstanding Outstanding Securities
Options, Options, Reflected in
Warrants and Warrants and Column
Plan Category Rights" Rights @ (a)) ¥@
(@) (b) (©)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 1,729,967 $ — 3,943,642
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders — —
1,729,967 $ = 3,943,642

W Consists of restricted stock units (“RSUs”) granted under our Amended and Restated 2013 Omnibus Equity

Incentive Plan (“2013 Plan”). Excludes restricted stock awards granted under the 2013 Plan, purchase rights granted
under our 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”).
@ Outstanding RSUs have no exercise price.
® Includes 3,806,730 shares available for future issuance under the 2013 Plan. Includes 136,912 shares available for
future issuance under the ESPP, including shares subject to purchase during the current offering period, which
commenced on November 15, 2022 (the exact number of which will not be known until the purchase date on May
15, 2023). Subject to the number of shares remaining in the share reserve, the maximum number of shares
purchasable by any participant on any one purchase date for any purchase period, including the current purchase
period, may not exceed 1,250 shares.
Pursuant to the terms of the ESPP, on the first day of each fiscal year, beginning with the 2015 fiscal year, the
number of shares authorized for issuance under the ESPP is automatically increased by the lesser of: (i) 366,667
shares of our common stock; (ii) 1% of the outstanding shares of our common stock as of the last day of the
immediately preceding fiscal year; or (iii) such other amount as the Board may determine. Pursuant to the provisions
of the ESPP, the Board has determined to not provide for any annual increases to date.

“)

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to information appearing in our Proxy
Statement, which information will appear under the captions entitled “Corporate Governance—Director Independence” and
“Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” in the Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to information appearing in our definitive
Proxy Statement, which information will appear under the caption entitled “Proposal 2: Ratification of Appointment of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm for 2023 in the Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a)  The following documents are filed as part of this Report:

)

Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

are attached to this Form 10-K beginning on page F-1.

2

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Statement Schedules

The financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable, or the information

required to be set forth therein is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(b)  Exhibits

The following exhibits are included herein or incorporated herein by reference:

Number

Description

3.1

32

4.1

4.2

10.1

10.2+

10.3+

10.4+

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Marcus & Millichap, Inc., (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q (No. 001-36155) for the quarter ended September
30, 2013 filed on November 22, 2013).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Marcus & Millichap, Inc., (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q (No. 001-36155) for the quarter ended September 30, 2013 filed on
November 22, 2013).

Specimen Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s registration statement on
Form S-1 (No. 333-191316) filed on September 23, 2013).

Description of the registrant’s securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the registrant’s annual report on Form 10-K (No. 001-36155)
for the year ended December 31, 2019 filed on March 2, 2020).

Transition Services Agreement by and between Marcus & Millichap, Inc. and Marcus & Millichap Company
dated October 31, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s quarterly report on Form
10-Q (No. 001-36155) for the quarter ended September 30, 2013 filed on November 22, 2013).

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between Marcus & Millichap, Inc. and each of its Officers and
Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the registrant’s registration statement on Form S-1 (No.

333-191316) filed on September 23, 2013).

Amended and Restated 2013 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.6 to the registrant’s annual report on Form 10-K (No. 001-36155) for the year ended December 31, 2017 filed

on March 16, 2018).

Form of Stock Option Award Agreement under 2013 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.10 to the registrant’s registration statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-191316) filed on September 23,

2013).
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Number

Description

10.5+

10.6+

10.7+

10.8+

10.9+

10.10%

10.117

10.12

10.13+

10.141

10.15+

10.16+

10.17%

21.1%*
23.1*
31.1%*

31.2*

32.1%*

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under 2013 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the registrant’s registration statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-191316) filed on
September 23. 2013).

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under 2013 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the registrant’s registration statement on Form S-1/A (No. 333-191316) filed on
October 21, 2013).

Form of Amendment, Restatement and Freezing of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement (Section 409A
grandfathered) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the registrant’s registration statement on Form S-1
(No. 333-191316) filed on September 23, 2013).

2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the registrant’s registration
statement on Form S-1/A (No. 333-191316) filed on October 28, 2013).

Executive Short-Term Incentive Plan, dated March 13, 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the
registrant’s current report on Form 8-K (No. 001-36155) filed on March 17, 2014).

Employment Agreement between the Company and Hessam Nadji effective as of March 31, 2016 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K/A (No. 001-36155) filed on April &,

2016).

Marcus & Millichap, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q (No. 001-36155) for the quarter ended June 30, 2018 filed on August

9.2018).

Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association dated July 28. 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s quarterly report on

Form 10-Q (No. 001-36155) filed on August 5, 2022).

Employment Agreement between the Company and Steven F. DeGennaro effective as of August 4, 2020
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q (No. 001-36155) for
the quarter ended September 30, 2020 filed on November 9, 2020).

Change in Control Policy dated August 3, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s
quarterly report on Form 10-Q (No. 001-36155) for the quarter ended June 30, 2021 filed on August 6, 2021).

Amended & Restated Death & Disability Policy dated August 3, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
to the registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q (No. 001-36155) for the quarter ended June 30, 2021 filed on

August 6, 2021).

Employment Agreement by and between John David Parker and Marcus & Millichap, Inc., dated August 4, 2022
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed on August 5,

2022).

Employment Agreement by and between Richard Matricaria and Marcus & Millichap, Inc., dated August 4,
2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed on August

5.2022).

List of Subsidiaries.

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act 0of 2002.
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Number Description

101*  The following financial statements from the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2022, formatted in Inline XBRL: (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Consolidated Statements of
Operations, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, (iv) Consolidated Statements of
Stockholders’ Equity, (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, tagged as blocks of text and including detailed tags.

104*  Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

T Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
* Filed herewith.
% Furnished, not filed.

(c)  Financial Statement Schedules

Not applicable.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: February 27, 2023 Marcus & Millichap, Inc.

/s/ Hessam Nadji

Hessam Nadji
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Hessam Nadji Director, President February 27, 2023
Hessam Nadiji and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Steven F. DeGennaro Chief Financial Officer February 27, 2023

Steven F. DeGennaro (Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Kurt H. Schwarz First Vice President of Finance February 27, 2023
Kurt H. Schwarz and Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ George M. Marcus Director February 27, 2023
George M. Marcus

/s/ Collete English Dixon Director February 27, 2023
Collete English Dixon
/s/ Norma J. Lawrence Director February 27,2023

Norma J. Lawrence

/s/ Lauralee E. Martin Director February 27, 2023
Lauralee E. Martin

/s/ Nicholas F. McClanahan Director February 27, 2023
Nicholas F. McClanahan

/s/ George T. Shaheen Director February 27, 2023
George T. Shaheen

/s/ Don C. Watters Director February 27, 2023
Don C. Watters
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of
Marcus & Millichap, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Marcus & Millichap, Inc (the Company) as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, stockholders’
equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements™). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022, in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated February 28, 2023 expressed an unqualified opinion
thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures
included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits
also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements
that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or
disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex
judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a
separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.



Description of the
Matter

How We Addressed the
Matter in Our Audit

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Deferred commissions payable

At December 31, 2022, Company’s commissions payable to investment sales and financing
professionals was $117.4 million. As discussed in Note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements, certain investment sales and financing professionals have the ability to earn
additional commissions after meeting certain annual revenue thresholds. All commissions are
recognized as cost of services in the period in which they are earned as they relate to specific
transactions closed. The Company has the ability to defer payment of certain commissions, at its
election, for up to three years. These payments are referred to as deferred commissions.

Auditing the Company’s deferred commissions was complex with regard to evaluating the
completeness of the population of investment sales and financing professionals eligible for
deferred commissions and the accuracy of the investment sales and financing professionals’
revenue thresholds used in determining deferred commissions earned.

We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of the Company’s internal
controls over the deferred commissions process. For example, we tested controls over the
completeness and accuracy of the data used in calculating the deferred commissions, including
approvals.

To test the deferred commissions payable, we performed audit procedures that included, among
others, performing a predictive test in which we evaluated the completeness of the deferred
commissions schedule based on investment sales and financing professionals’ sales
performance. Additionally, we performed procedures to obtain evidence of eligibility approval
and performed a hindsight analysis to evaluate the amount of cash disbursed to the amount of
deferred commissions payable previously accrued.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2013.

Los Angeles, California
February 27, 2023



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of
Marcus & Millichap, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Marcus and Millichap Inc.’s (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on
the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes and our report dated February 28, 2023 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in
all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk,
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Los Angeles, California
February 27, 2023



MARCUS & MILLICHAP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except for shares and par value)

December 31,
2022 2021
Assets
Current assets:
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash of $16 $ 235873 $ 382,140
Commissions receivable 8.453 17,230
Prepaid expenses 9411 13,220
Income tax receivable 8,082 —
Marketable debt securities, available-for-sale (includes amortized cost of $254,682
and $183,915 at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $0 allowance for
credit losses) 253,434 183,868
Advances and loans, net 4,005 6,403
Other assets, current 7.282 5.270
Total current assets 527,140 608,131
Property and equipment, net 27,644 23,192
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net 87,945 81,528
Marketable debt securities, available-for-sale (includes amortized cost of $72,819 and
$111,858 at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $0 allowance for credit
losses) 68,595 112,610
Assets held in rabbi trust 9,553 11,508
Deferred tax assets, net 41,321 33,736
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net 55,696 48,105
Advances and loans, net 169,955 113,242
Other assets, non-current 15.859 13.146
Total assets $ 1,003,708 $ 1,045,198
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 11,450 $ 15,487
Deferred compensation and commissions 75,321 114,685
Income tax payable — 17,853
Operating lease liabilities 16,984 18,973
Accrued bonuses and other employee related expenses 38,327 49,848
Other liabilities, current 9.933 8.784
Total current liabilities 152,015 225,630
Deferred compensation and commissions 64,461 53,536
Operating lease liabilities 65,109 58,334
Other liabilities, non-current 8.614 11.394
Total liabilities 290.199 348.894
Commitments and contingencies — —
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value:
Authorized shares — 25,000,000; issued and outstanding shares — none at
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively — —
Common stock, $0.0001 par value:
Authorized shares — 150,000,000; issued and outstanding shares — 39,255,838
and 39,692,373 at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively 4 4
Additional paid-in capital 131,541 121,844
Retained earnings 585,581 573,546
Accumulated other comprehensive income (3.617) 910
Total stockholders’ equity 713.509 696.304
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,003,708 $ 1,045,198

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MARCUS & MILLICHAP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Revenue:

Real estate brokerage commissions $ 1,170,310 $ 1,170,969 $ 633,164

Financing fees 112,978 109,690 70,538

Other revenue 18,422 15,781 13,204
Total revenue 1,301,710 1,296,440 716,906
Operating expenses:

Cost of services 850,894 840,209 447,879

Selling, general and administrative 300,009 255,154 204,514

Depreciation and amortization 13,406 11,721 10,899
Total operating expenses 1,164,309 1,107,084 663,292
Operating income 137,401 189,356 53,614
Other income, net 5,336 4,527 6,650
Interest expense (708) (580) (900)
Income before provision for income taxes 142,029 193,303 59,364
Provision for income taxes 37,804 50,833 16,526
Net income $ 104,225 $ 142,470 $ 42,838
Earnings per share:

Basic $ 2.61 $ 357 § 1.08

Diluted $ 259 § 355 § 1.08
Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Basic 39,893 39,888 39,642

Diluted 40,186 40,187 39,735

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-6



MARCUS & MILLICHAP, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Net income $ 104,225 $ 142,470 $ 42,838
Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Marketable debt securities, available-for-sale:
Change in net unrealized gains/losses (4,565) (1,554) 799
Less: reclassification adjustment for net losses (gains)
included in other income (expense), net (70) 72 34

Net change, net of tax of $(1,559), $(505) and $286 for the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively (4,635) (1,482) 833
Foreign currency translation gain (loss), net of tax of $0 for each of the
years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively 108 (182) (237)
Total other comprehensive (loss) income (4,527) (1,664) 596
Comprehensive income $ 99,698 $ 140,806 $ 43,434

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MARCUS & MILLICHAP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands, except for shares)

Series A
Redeemable
Preferred
Stock Common Stock

Stock
Notes
Additional Receivable
Paid-In From Retained
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Employees  Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total

Balance as of December 31, 2019 —  $ — 39,153,195 $ 4 $ 104,658 $ (4) $ 388238
Net and comprehensive income — — — — — — 42,838
Stock-based award activity:

Stock-based compensation — — — — 9,905 — —

Issuance of common stock
pursuant to employee stock
purchase plan — — 27,596 — 642 — —

Issuance of common stock for
vesting of restricted stock units — — 264,235 — — — _

Issuance of common stock for
unvested restricted stock
awards — — 19,516 — — — —

Shares withheld related to net
share settlement of stock-based
awards — — (62,566) — (2,023) — —

Reduction of stock notes receivable
from employees — — 0 — — 4 —

$

1,978
596

$ 494,874
43,434

9,905

642

(2,023)

4

Balance as of December 31, 2020 — — 39,401,976 4 113,182 — 431,076
Net and comprehensive income (loss) — — — — — — 142,470
Stock-based award activity:

Stock-based compensation — — — — 10,361 — —

Issuance of common stock
pursuant to employee stock
purchase plan — — 20,152 — 653 — —

Issuance of common stock for
settlement of deferred stock
units — — 60,373 — — — —

Issuance of common stock for
vesting of restricted stock units — — 260,525 — — — _

Issuance of common stock for
unvested restricted stock
awards — — 13,323 — — — —

Issuance of common stock for
stock settled deferred
consideration — — 27,481 — 1,000 — —

Shares withheld related to net
share settlement of stock-based
awards — — (91,457) — (3,352) — —

2,574
(1,664)

546,836
140,806

10,361

653

1,000

(3.352)

Balance as of December 31, 2021 — — 39,692,373 4 121,844 — 573,546
Net and comprehensive income (loss) — — — — — — 104,225
Dividend — — — — — — (62,572)
Stock-based award activity:

Stock-based compensation — — — — 17,312 — —

Issuance of common stock
pursuant to employee stock
purchase plan — — 19,813 — 709 — —

Issuance of common stock for
settlement of deferred stock
units — — 281,193 — — — —

Issuance of common stock for
vesting of restricted stock units — — 292,953 — — — —

Issuance of common stock for
unvested restricted stock
awards — — 11,494 — — — —

Shares withheld related to net
share settlement of stock-based
awards — — (206,390) — (9,741) — —

Issuance of common stock for
stock settled deferred
consideration — — 28,673 — 1,417 — —

Repurchases of common stock — — (864) — — — (29,618)

910
(4,527)

696,304
99,698
(62,572)

17,312

709

(9,741)

1417
(29,618)

Balance as of December 31, 2022 — $ — 39,255,838 § 4 $ 131,541 § — § 585,581

$

(3,617)

$ 713,509

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MARCUS & MILLICHAP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 104,225 § 142,470 $ 42,838
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 13,406 11,721 10,899
Noncash lease expense 23,112 23,729 22,825
Credit loss expense (51) 166 188
Stock-based compensation 17,312 10,361 9,905
Deferred taxes, net (6,073) (11,845) 473
Unrealized foreign exchange losses (gains) 534 3,824 (299)
Net realized gains on marketable debt securities, available-for-sale (86) (219) (192)
Other non-cash items (973) 641 895
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Commissions receivable 8,445 (10,832) (3,290)
Prepaid expenses 3,802 (3,066) 774
Advances and loans (54,818) (12,382) (39,773)
Other assets (9,830) (3,046) (2,743)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (4,071) 9,779 (5,643)
Income tax receivable/payable (26,535) 14,128 8,724
Accrued bonuses and other employee related expenses (11,491) 29,073 (2,095)
Deferred compensation and commissions (24,631) 75,047 6,421
Operating lease liabilities (21,176) (21,276) (18,461)
Other liabilities 2,528 (2,370) 6,642
Net cash provided by operating activities 13,629 255,903 38,088
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash received (12,500) 229 (16,298)
Purchases of marketable debt securities, available-for-sale (380,799) (378,1006) (215,6006)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable debt securities, available-for-sale 350,993 285,628 221,677
Purchases of securities, held-to-maturity — (9,500) —
Issuances of employee notes receivable (74) (40) (243)
Payments received on employee notes receivable 71 290 187
Purchase of property and equipment (11,666) (6,857) (6,945)
Net cash used in investing activities (53,975) (108,356) (17,228)
Cash flows from financing activities
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of stock-based awards (9,741) (3,352) (2,023)
Proceeds from issuance of shares pursuant to employee stock purchase plan 709 653 642
Dividends paid (60,358) — —
Principal payments on notes payable to former stockholders — — (6,564)
Principal payments on stock appreciation rights liability (1,761) (1,481) (1,251)
Payments of contingent and deferred consideration (5,351) (1,739) (1,134)
Cash paid for stock repurchases (29,053) — —
Net cash used in financing activities (105,555) (5,919) (10,330)
Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (366) (2,640) (48)
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (146,267) 138,988 10,482
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of year 382,140 243,152 232,670
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of year $ 235873 § 382.140 $ 243.152
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Interest paid during the period $ 614 $ 749 $ 1,223
Income taxes paid, net $ 69,847 $ 48,563 $ 7,329
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities $ 21,770  $ 23,662 $ 21,131
Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing and financing activities:
Unpaid purchases of property and equipment $ 684 $ 406 $ 154
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease obligations $ 27,027 $ 19981 § 16,293
Issuance of shares pursuant to settlement of deferred consideration $ 1,417 $ 1,000 $ —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MARCUS & MILLICHAP, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Description of Business and Basis of Presentation
Description of Business

Marcus & Millichap, Inc., (the “Company”, “Marcus & Millichap”, or “MMI”), a Delaware corporation, is a
brokerage firm specializing in commercial real estate investment sales, financing services, research and advisory services.
As of December 31, 2022, MMI operates 81 offices in the United States and Canada through its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, including the operations of Marcus & Millichap Capital Corporation.

Reorganization and Initial Public Offering

MMI was formed in June 2013 in preparation for Marcus & Millichap Company (“MMC”) to spin-off its majority
owned subsidiary, Marcus & Millichap Real Estate Investment Services, Inc. (“MMREIS”). Prior to the initial public
offering (“IPO”) of MMLI, all of the preferred and common stockholders of MMREIS (including MMC and employees of
MMREIS) contributed all of their outstanding shares to MMI, in exchange for new MMI common stock. As a result,
MMREIS became a wholly-owned subsidiary of MMI. Thereafter, MMC distributed 80.0% of the shares of MMI common
stock to MMC’s shareholders and exchanged the remaining portion of its shares of MMI common stock for cancellation of
indebtedness of MMC. MMI completed its IPO on November 5, 2013.

Basis of Presentation

The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its
wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Company reclassified certain items previously included within accounts payable and other liabilities to other
liabilities, current in the December 31, 2021 consolidated balance sheet to conform with current period
presentation.

2. Accounting Policies and Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Accounting Policies
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash

The Company considers cash equivalents to include short-term, highly liquid investments with maturities of three
months or less when purchased. Portions of the balance of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash were held in financial
institutions, various money market funds with fixed and floating net asset values and short-term commercial paper. Money
market funds have floating net asset values and may be subject to gating or liquidity fees. The Company assesses short-
term commercial paper for impairment in connection with investments in marketable debt securities, available-for-sale. The
likelihood of realizing material losses from cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, including the excess of cash
balances over federally insured limits, is remote.

Revenue Recognition

The Company generates real estate brokerage commissions by acting as a broker for real estate owners or investors
seeking to buy or sell interests in commercial properties and generates financing fees from securing financing on purchase
transactions, from refinancing its clients’ existing mortgage debt and other ancillary fees associated with financing
activities, including, but not limited to, mortgage servicing, debt and equity advisory services, loan sales, due diligence
services, guarantee fees, loan performance fees and other consulting.

Real Estate Brokerage Commissions

Contracts for representing buyers and sellers of real estate are negotiated on a transaction-by-transaction basis. The
consideration associated with the successful outcome remains constrained until the completion of a transaction which
happens at the close of escrow. At that time, the Company's performance is complete.

Financing Fees
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MARCUS & MILLICHAP, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Contracts for representing potential borrowers are negotiated on a transaction-by-transaction basis. The consideration
associated with the successful outcome remains constrained until the completion of a transaction which happens at the time
the loan closes. At that time, the Company recognizes revenue related to the transaction. The Company’s fee arrangements,
with an exception for guarantee obligations, do not include terms or conditions that require the Company to perform any
service or fulfill any obligation once the loan closes.

Loan Performance Fees - For loans originated through the Strategic Alliance ("Strategic Alliance") with M&T Realty
Capital Corporation ("MTRCC"), the Company receives variable consideration in the form of loan performance fees based
on a portion of the servicing fees expected to be received by MTRCC under the servicing contract for servicing the loan.
As the Company is not obligated to perform any servicing functions and has no further obligations related to the transaction
giving rise to the loan performance fees, the estimated value of the loan performance fees to be received is recorded at the
time the loan closes and are collected over the estimated term of the related loan. Any changes in the estimate of loan
performance fees to be received are recorded in revenue in the period the estimate changes.

Guarantee Obligations - For certain loans originated through the Strategic Alliance with MTRCC, the Company may
agree, at its option, to indemnify MTRCC for a portion of MTRCC’s obligations for loans sold to the Federal National
Mortgage Association ("Fannie Mae"). For these loans, the Company allocates a portion of the transaction price and
records a loan guarantee obligation based on its fair value. Revenue for this stand ready obligation is recorded on a straight-
line basis over the term of the estimated guarantee period and is recorded in financing fees in the consolidated statements of
operations. The guarantee obligation is capped at 16.7% of any unpaid principal balance in excess of the value of the
collateral securing such loan. For these loans, the Company is required to pledge cash in a restricted bank account in
support of the guarantee obligation. The Company records an allowance for estimated losses related to the loans subject to
the guarantee considering the risk characteristics of the loan, the loan's risk rating, historical loss experience, potential
adverse situations affecting individual loans and other forecasted information as appropriate.

Mortgage Servicing - The Company recognized mortgage servicing revenue upon the acquisition of a servicing
contract. The Company recorded servicing fees when earned provided the loans are current and the debt service payments
are made by the borrower. As of December 31, 2022, the Company no longer owns any mortgage servicing rights.

Other Revenue

Other revenue include fees generated from consulting and advisory services, as well as referral fees from other real
estate brokers, and are recognized when services are provided, or upon closing of the transaction.

Capitalization of Internal Software

Certain costs related to the development or purchase of internal-use software are capitalized. Internal costs that are
incurred in the preliminary project stage are expensed as incurred. Direct consulting costs and certain payroll and related
costs that are incurred during the development stage of a project are capitalized and depreciated using the straight-line
method over a useful life of five years. Capitalized costs are recorded in property and equipment, net, and amortization is
recorded in depreciation and amortization in the consolidated financial statements. Amortization begins for software that
has been placed into production and is ready for its intended use. Post-implementation costs such as training, maintenance
and support are expensed as incurred. The Company evaluates the carrying value of capitalized software for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable.

Commissions Receivable, Net

Commissions receivable, net consists of commissions earned on brokerage and financing transactions for which
payment has not yet been received. The Company evaluates the need for an allowance for credit losses based on
consideration of historical experience, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. The majority of
commissions receivable are settled within 10 days after the close of escrow.

Advances and Loans, Net

Advances and loans, net includes amounts advanced and loans due from the Company’s investment sales and
financing professionals.



MARCUS & MILLICHAP, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

In order to attract and retain highly skilled professionals, from time to time the Company advances funds to its
investment sales and financing professionals. The advances are typically in the form of forgivable loans that have terms
that are generally between 5 and 10 years. The principal amount of a forgivable loan and accrued interest are forgiven over
the term of the loan, so long as the investment sales and financing professionals continue to be a service provider with the
Company, and/or upon achieving contractual performance criteria. Amounts forgiven are charged to selling, general and
administrative expense over the period forgiven. If the investment sales and financing professional’s relationship with the
Company is terminated before the amount advanced is forgiven, the unforgiven amount, and any accrued interest, becomes
due and payable. The Company evaluates the need for an allowance for credit losses based on amounts advanced, expected
forgiveness, consideration of historical experience, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Estimated credit losses, net of any reversals, are charged to credit loss expense included in selling, general and
administrative expense. Amounts are generally written off when amounts are determined to be no longer collectable.

The Company, from time to time, also enters into various agreements, including notes receivable, with certain of its
investment sales and financing professionals whereby these individuals receive loans that are to be repaid in the future. The
notes receivable, along with stated interest, are typically collected from future commissions or repaid based on the terms
stipulated in the respective agreements that are generally between one and seven years. The Company evaluates the need
for an allowance for credit losses for the loans based on historical experience, current conditions and reasonable forecasts
of future economic conditions. Estimated credit losses, net of any reversals, are charged to credit loss expense included in
selling, general and administrative expense. Amounts are generally written off when amounts are determined to be no
longer collectable.

Cost of Services

Cost of services principally consists of variable commissions, compensation-related costs related to the Company’s
financing activities, and other costs for the Company’s investment sales and financing professionals related to transactions
closed in the period. Commissions are accrued based on revenue from transactions generated by the Company’s investment
sales and financing professionals. Investment sales and financing professionals are compensated at commission rates based
on individual agreements, and a portion of the commissions due upon the closing of a transaction may be deferred in
accordance with their contracts. Some of the Company's most senior investment sales and financing professionals also have
the ability to earn additional commissions after meeting certain annual financial thresholds. These additional commissions
are recognized as cost of services in the period in which they are earned. Payment of a portion of these additional
commissions are generally deferred for a period of one to three years, at the Company's election, and paid at the beginning
of the second and fourth calendar year. These deferred commissions are included in deferred compensation and
commissions (current and non-current) captions in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Cost of services also
includes referral fees paid to other real estate brokers where we are the principal service provider.

Investments in Marketable Debt Securities, Available-for-Sale

The Company maintains a portfolio of investments in a variety of fixed and variable rate debt securities, including
U.S. treasuries, U.S. government sponsored entities, corporate debt, asset-backed securities (“ABS”) and other. The
Company considers its investments in marketable debt securities to be available-for-sale, and accordingly, are recorded at
their fair values. The Company determines the appropriate classification of investments in marketable debt securities at the
time of purchase. Interest along with amortization of purchase premiums and accretion of discounts from the purchase date
through the estimated maturity date, including consideration of variable maturities and contractual call provisions, are
included in other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company typically invests in
highly rated debt securities, and its investment policy generally limits the amount of credit exposure to any one issuer. The
policy requires substantially all investments to be investment grade, with the primary objective of minimizing the potential
risk of principal loss and matching long-term liabilities. See Note 5 — “Investments in Marketable Debt Securities,
Available-for-Sale” for additional information.

The Company reviews quarterly its investment portfolio of all securities in an unrealized loss position to determine
if an impairment charge or credit reserve is required. The Company excludes accrued interest from both the fair value and
the amortized cost basis of marketable debt securities, available-for-sale, for the purposes of identifying and measuring an
impairment. An investment is impaired if the fair value is less than its amortized cost basis. Impairment relating to credit
losses is recorded through a reduction in the amortized cost of the security or an allowance for credit losses and credit loss
expense (included in selling, general and administrative expense), limited by the amount that the fair value is less than the
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MARCUS & MILLICHAP, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

amortized cost basis. Impairment that has not been recorded as a credit loss is recorded through other comprehensive
income (loss), net of applicable taxes. The Company made an accounting policy election to not measure an allowance for
credit losses for accrued interest receivables. The Company evaluates write-off of accrued interest receivable at the time
credit loss exists for the underlying security.

Determining whether a credit loss exists requires a high degree of judgment and the Company considers both
qualitative and quantitative factors in making its determination. The Company evaluates its intent to sell, or whether the
Company will more likely than not be required to sell, the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis. For all
securities in an unrealized loss position, the Company evaluates, among other items, the extent and length of time the fair
market value of a security is less than its amortized cost, time to maturity, duration, seniority, the financial condition of the
issuer including credit ratings, any changes thereto and relative default rates, leverage ratios, availability of liquidity to
make principal and interest payments, performance indicators of the underlying assets, analyst reports and
recommendations, and changes in base and market interest rates. If the qualitative and quantitative analysis is sufficient to
conclude that an impairment related to credit losses does not exist, the Company typically does not perform further
quantitative analysis to estimate the present value of cash flows expected to be collected from the debt security. Estimates
of expected future cash flows are the Company’s best estimate based on past events, current conditions and reasonable and
supportable economic forecasts.

Assets Held in Rabbi Trust

The Company maintains a non-qualified deferred compensation program for certain employees. Deferred amounts
are invested in variable whole life insurance policies owned by the Company supporting the deferred obligation and are
held in a rabbi trust. Participants elect to invest in various hypothetical equity and debt securities offered within the plan on
a notional basis. The net change in the carrying value of the underlying assets held in the rabbi trust is recorded in other
income (expense), net. The change in the deferred compensation liability as a result of the change in the notional value of
the participants accounts is recorded as a component of selling, general and administrative expense in the consolidated
statements of operations.

Fair Value Measurements

U.S. GAAP defines the fair value of a financial instrument as the amount that would be received from the sale of an
asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The Company is responsible for the
determination of fair value and the supporting methodologies and assumptions. The Company uses various pricing sources
and third parties to provide and validate the values utilized.

The degree of judgment used in measuring the fair value of financial instruments is generally inversely correlated
with the level of observable valuation inputs. Financial instruments with quoted prices in active markets generally have
more pricing observability and less judgment is used in measuring fair value. Financial instruments for which no quoted
prices are available have less observability and are measured at fair value using valuation models or other pricing
techniques that require more judgment.

Assets recorded at fair value are measured and classified in accordance with a fair value hierarchy consisting of the
three “levels” based on the observability of inputs available in the marketplace used to measure the fair values as discussed
below:

»  Level I: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical,
unrestricted assets or liabilities;

»  Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are not active, or inputs which are observable, either directly or
indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability; or

»  Level 3: Unobservable inputs reflect management’s best estimate of what market participants would use in
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Consideration is given to the risk inherent in the
valuation technique and the risk inherent in the inputs to the model. Management estimates include certain
pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable
inputs.
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Recurring Fair Value Measurements

The Company values its investments including commercial paper and floating NAV money market funds recorded
in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, investments in marketable debt securities, available-for-sale, assets held in
the rabbi trust, deferred compensation liability and contingent and deferred consideration at fair value on a recurring basis.

Fair values for investments included in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash and marketable debt securities,
available-for-sale, were determined for each individual security in the investment portfolio and all these securities are
Level 1 or 2 measurements as appropriate.

Fair values for assets held in the rabbi trust and related deferred compensation liability were determined based on the
cash surrender value of the Company owned variable life insurance policies and underlying investments in the trust, and
are Level 2 and Level 1 measurements, respectively.

Contingent consideration in connection with acquisitions, is carried at fair value and determined on a contract-by-
contract basis, calculated using unobservable inputs based on a probability of achieving EBITDA and other performance
requirements (refer to Note 9 — “Fair Value Measurements™), and is a Level 3 measurement. Deferred consideration in
connection with acquisitions is carried at fair value and calculated using a discounted cash flow estimate with the only
remaining condition on such payments being the passage of time, and is a Level 2 measurement.

Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements

In accordance with U.S. GAAP, from time to time, the Company measures certain assets at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis. The Company reviews the carrying value of mortgage servicing rights (“MSRs”), intangibles, goodwill
and other assets for indications of impairment at least annually. When indications of potential impairment are identified,
the Company may be required to determine the fair value of those assets and record an adjustment for the carrying amount
in excess of the fair value determined. Any fair value determination would be based on valuation approaches, which are
appropriate under the circumstances and utilize Level 2 and Level 3 measurements as required.

Assets and Liabilities not Measured at Fair Value

The Company’s commissions receivable, amounts due from employees and investment sales and financing
professionals (included in the other assets, current and other assets, non-current captions), accounts payable and other
liabilities and commissions payable (included in deferred compensation and commissions, current and deferred
compensation and commissions, non-current captions) are carried at cost, which approximates fair value based on their
immediate or short-term maturities and terms which approximate current market rates.

The Company’s obligations under stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) liability (included in the deferred
compensation and commissions, current and deferred compensation and commissions, non-current captions) bear interest at
a variable rate based on U.S. Treasuries, and the Company has determined that the carrying value approximates their fair
value.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. The Company uses the
straight-line method for depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization is recorded over estimated useful
lives ranging from three to seven years.

The Company evaluates its fixed assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.

Other Assets

Other assets consist primarily of securities, held-to-maturity, MSRs, security deposits made in connection with
operating leases, customer trust accounts, employee notes receivable and other assets and receivables. In connection with a
brokerage transaction, the Company may need to, or be required to, hold cash in escrow for a transaction participant. These
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amounts are deposited into separate customer trust accounts controlled by the Company. The amounts are included in
current other assets, net, with a corresponding liability included in accounts payable and other liabilities, both in the
consolidated balance sheets.

MSRs were recorded at fair value upon acquisition of a servicing contract. As of December 31, 2022, the Company
no longer owns any MSRs. The Company has elected the amortization method for the subsequent measurement of MSRs.
MSRs were carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value. All MSRs are amortized using the interest method over the
period that servicing income is expected to be received. MSRs are included in other assets non-current in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. See Note 7 — “Selected Balance Sheet Data” for additional information.
Amortization related to the MSRs is included in depreciation and amortization expense in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations.

The Company measured MSRs at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. MSRs are a Level 3 measurement. The
Company’s MSRs did not trade in an active, open market with readily observable prices. The estimated fair value of the
Company’s MSRs were developed using a discounted cash flow model that calculates the present value of estimated future
net servicing income. The model considers contractual provisions and assumptions of market participants including
specified servicing fees, prepayment assumptions, delinquency rates, late charges, other ancillary revenue, costs to service
and other economic factors. The Company periodically reassessed and adjusted, when necessary, the underlying inputs and
assumptions used in the model to reflect observable market conditions and assumptions that a market participant would
consider in valuing an MSR asset.

In connection with MSR activities, the Company held funds in escrow for the benefit of the lenders. These funds and
the offsetting obligations are not presented in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as they do not represent
assets and liabilities of the Company.

In June 2022, the Company discontinued its servicing activities and signed an agreement to sell the remaining
servicing rights. The sale closed in the third quarter of 2022. See Note 7 — “Selected Balance Sheet Data” for additional
information.

Leases

The Company utilizes operating leases for all its facilities and autos. The Company determines if an arrangement is a
lease at inception. Right-of-use assets (“ROU assets”) represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the
lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company’s contractual obligation to make lease payments under the lease.
Operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-use assets, and operating lease liabilities, current and non-current
captions in the consolidated balance sheets.

Right-of-use assets and liabilities are recognized on the commencement date based on the present value of lease
payments over the lease term. Lease agreements may contain periods of free rent or reduced rent, predetermined fixed
increases in the minimum rent and renewal or termination options, all of which add complexity and impact the
determination of the lease term and lease payments to be used in calculating the lease liability. Certain facility leases
provide for rental escalations related to increases in the lessors’ direct operating expenses. The Company uses the implicit
rate in the lease when determinable. As most of the Company’s leases do not have a determinable implicit rate the
Company uses an estimated incremental borrowing rate based on borrowing options under its credit agreement and applies
a spread over treasury rates for the indicated term of the lease based on the information available on the commencement
date of the lease. The Company typically leases general purpose built-out office space, which reverts to the lessor upon
termination of the lease. Any payments for completed improvements, determined to be owed by the lessor, net of
incentives received, are recorded as an increase to the ROU asset and considered in the determination of the lease cost.

The Company has lease agreements with lease and non-lease components, which are accounted for as a single lease
component. Lease cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments consist of
common area costs, insurance, taxes, utilities, parking and other lease related costs, which are determined principally based
on billings from landlords. Sub-lease income is recorded as a component of selling general and administrative expense in
the consolidated statements of operations.
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Litigation

The Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business, some
of which involve claims for damages that are substantial in amount. Most of these litigation matters are covered by
insurance, which contain deductibles, exclusions, claim limits and aggregate policy limits. While the ultimate liability for
these legal proceedings cannot be determined, the Company uses judgment in the evaluation of claims and the need for
accrual for loss contingencies quarterly. The Company records an accrual for litigation related losses where the likelihood
of loss is both probable and estimable. The Company accrues legal fees for litigation as the legal services are provided.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs are included in selling, general and administrative
expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Adpvertising costs for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 were $1,653,000, $830,000, and $586,000
respectively.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method. The Company recognizes deferred tax
assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences attributable to (i) differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis, and (ii) operating losses and tax credit
carryforwards. The Company measures existing deferred tax assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates expected to apply
to taxable income in the years in which the Company expects to have temporary differences realized or settled. The
Company recognizes in the provision for income taxes, the effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax
rates in the period that includes the enactment date. The Company periodically evaluates deferred tax assets to assess
whether it is likely that the deferred tax assets will be realized. In determining whether a valuation allowance is required,
the Company considers the timing of deferred tax reversals, current year taxable income and historical performance.
Valuation allowances are provided against deferred tax assets when it is more-likely-than-not that some portion or all of the
deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Because of the nature of the Company’s business, which includes activity in the U.S. and Canada, incorporating
numerous states and provinces as well as local jurisdictions, the Company’s tax position can be complex. As such, the
Company’s effective tax rate is subject to changes as a result of fluctuations in the mix of its activity in the various
jurisdictions in which the Company operates including changes in tax rates, state apportionment, tax related interest and
penalties, valuation allowances and other permanent items. Calculating some of the amounts involves a high degree of
judgment.

The Company evaluates its tax positions quarterly. The threshold for recognizing the benefits of tax return positions
in the financial statements is “more likely than not” to be sustained by the taxing authority and requires measurement of a
tax position meeting the more-likely-than-not criterion, based on the largest benefit that is more than 50% likely to be
realized. The Company assesses its inventory of tax positions with respect to all applicable income tax issues for all open
tax years (in each respective jurisdiction) and determines whether uncertain tax positions are required to be recognized in
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties incurred as income tax expense.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures and records compensation expense for all stock-based awards made to employees,
independent contractors and non-employee directors. Awards are issued under the Amended and Restated 2013 Omnibus
Equity Incentive Plan (“2013 Plan”) and 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”).

For awards made to the Company’s employees, directors and independent contractors, the Company initially values
restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and restricted stock awards (“RSAs”) based on the grant date closing price of the
Company’s common stock. For awards with periodic vesting, the Company recognizes the related expense on a straight-
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line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award, subject to periodic adjustments to ensure that the
cumulative amount of expense recognized through the end of any reporting period is at least equal to the portion of the
grant date value of the award that has vested through that date. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur.

For shares issued under the ESPP, the Company determined that the plan was a compensatory plan and is required to
expense the fair value of the awards over each six-month offering period. The Company estimates the fair value of these
awards using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Company calculates the expected volatility based on the
historical volatility of the Company’s common stock, the risk-free interest rate based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in
effect at the time of grant, both consistent with the term of the offering period. The Company includes a dividend yield
based on the recurring semi-annual dividend. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur.

Earnings per Share

Basic weighted average shares outstanding includes vested, but unissued, deferred stock units (“DSUs”). The
difference between basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding represents the dilutive impact of common stock
equivalents consisting of shares to be issued under the 2013 Plan and ESPP, and contingently issuable shares in connection
with stock settled consideration for acquired businesses.

Foreign Currency Translation

The Company prepares the financial statements of its Canadian subsidiary using the local currency as the functional
currency. The assets and liabilities of the Company’s Canadian subsidiary are translated into U.S. dollars at the rates of
exchange at the balance sheet date with the resulting translation adjustments included as a separate component of
stockholder’s equity through other comprehensive income (loss) in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

Income and expenses are translated at the average monthly rates of exchange. The Company includes gains and
losses from foreign currency transactions in other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations.

The effect of foreign currency translation on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash is reflected in cash flows
from operating activities on the consolidated statements of cash flows, and is not material for any period presented.

Taxes Collected from Clients and Remitted to Governmental Authorities

The Company accounts for tax assessed by any governmental authority that is based on revenue or transaction value
(e.g. sales, use and value added taxes) on a net basis, and, accordingly, such amounts are not included in revenue. Collected
amounts are recorded as a current liability until paid.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the related disclosures at the date of
the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk principally consist of
cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, investments in marketable debt securities, available-for-sale, security deposits
(included under other assets, non-current) and commissions receivable, net. Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash are
placed with high-credit quality financial institutions and invested in high-credit quality money market funds and
commercial paper. Concentrations and ratings of marketable debt securities, available-for-sale are limited by the approved
investment policy.

To reduce its credit risk, the Company monitors the credit standing of the financial institutions money market funds

that represent amounts recorded as cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash. The Company historically has not
experienced any significant losses related to cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash.
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The Company has entered into a Strategic Alliance with MTRCC pursuant to which the Company has agreed to
provide loan opportunities that may be funded through MTRCC’s Delegated Underwriting and Servicing Agreement
(“DUS Agreement”) with Fannie Mae that requires MTRCC to guarantee a portion of each loan funded. On a loan-by-loan
basis, the Company, at its option, can indemnify a portion of MTRCC’s guarantee obligation of loan opportunities
presented to and closed by MTRCC though the DUS Agreement. The Company manages and limits the concentration of
risk related to the guarantees assumed by monitoring the underlying property type, geographic location, credit of the
borrowers, underlying debt service coverage, and loan to value ratios.

The Company derives its revenue from a broad range of real estate investors, owners, and users in the United States
and Canada, none of which individually represents a significant concentration of credit risk. The Company maintains
allowances, as needed, for estimated credit losses based on management’s assessment of the likelihood of collection. For
the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, no transaction represented 10% or more of total revenue. Further,
while one or more transactions may represent 10% or more of commissions receivable at any reporting date, amounts due
are typically collected within 10 days of settlement and, therefore, do not expose the Company to significant credit risk.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company’s Canadian operations represented approximately 2% of
total revenue. During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company’s Canadian operations represented less
than 2% and 1% of total revenue, respectively.

During each of the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, no office represented 10% or more of total
revenue.

Business Combinations

The Company accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting, under which the
consideration for the acquisition, including the fair value of any contingent and deferred consideration, is allocated to the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The Company recognizes identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at
their acquisition date fair values as determined by management as of the acquisition date. The excess of the consideration
over the assets acquired net of liabilities assumed is recognized as goodwill. During the measurement period, which is not
to exceed one year from the acquisition date, the Company may record adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period, any subsequent
adjustments are recorded as expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

In connection with certain acquisitions, the Company enters into agreements to pay additional cash amounts based
on the achievement of certain performance measures and/or service and time requirements. Contingent and deferred
consideration in connection with the acquisition of a business is measured at fair value on the acquisition date and
remeasured at fair value each reporting period thereafter until the consideration is settled in cash or stock, with changes in
fair value recorded in selling, general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

Acquisition-related costs, such as due diligence, legal and accounting fees, are expensed as incurred and not
considered in determining the fair value of the acquired assets. Acquisition-related costs are reflected in selling, general
and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment annually in the fourth quarter. In addition to the annual
impairment evaluation, the Company evaluates at least quarterly whether events or circumstances have occurred in the
period subsequent to the annual impairment testing which indicate that it is more likely than not an impairment loss has
occurred. The initial impairment evaluation of goodwill is a qualitative assessment and is performed to assess whether the
fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. The Company completes a quantitative impairment test if
evidence from the qualitative assessment indicates that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is
less than its carrying amount. If the Company determines the quantitative impairment test is required, the estimated fair
value of the reporting unit is determined and compared to its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the carrying amount
exceeds the estimated fair value, an impairment loss is recognized equal to that excess. The loss recognized cannot exceed
the carrying amount of goodwill. The Company currently has only one reporting unit, therefore, all goodwill is allocated to
that one reporting unit.
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The Company evaluates its finite-lived intangible assets for impairment at least annually, or as events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. The Company records an impairment loss if impairment
triggers exist and the fair value of the asset is less than the asset’s carrying amount. The Company measures recoverability
by comparing the carrying amount to the future undiscounted cash flows that the intangible assets are expected to generate.
If the carrying value of the intangible assets are not recoverable, the impairment recognized is measured as the amount by
which the carrying value exceeds its fair value. The Company’s intangible assets primarily include non-compete
agreements, customer relationships and contracts in progress that resulted from its business combinations. These intangible
assets are generally amortized on a straight-line basis using a useful life between 1 and 7 years.

Segment Reporting

The Company follows U.S. GAAP for segment reporting, which requires reporting information on operating
segments in interim and annual financial statements. Substantially all of the Company’s operations involve the delivery of
commercial real estate services to its customers including real estate investment sales, financing and consulting and
advisory services. Management makes operating decisions, assesses performance and allocates resources based on an
ongoing review of these integrated operations, which constitute the Company’s only operating segment for financial
reporting purposes.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Recently Adopted

In March 2020, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform
(Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting (“ASU 2020-04"). ASU 2020-04
is effective for all entities upon issuance and may be applied prospectively to contract modifications through December 31,
2022. The Company's Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (see Note 15 — “Commitments and Contingencies”) no
longer references LIBOR. As the Company has not drawn funds from the credit facility, we determined that the adoption of
ASU 2020-04 did not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements.

3. Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2022 2021
Computer software and hardware equipment $ 42,617 $ 33,819
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 26,453 24,511
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (41,426) (35,138)

$ 27,644 § 23,192

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company wrote-off approximately $1.2 million and $3.2
million, respectively, of fully depreciated computer software and hardware equipment and furniture, fixtures and
equipment.
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Operating Leases

The Company has operating leases for all of its facilities and autos. The operating lease cost, included in selling,

general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations, consisted of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended
December 31,
2022 2021
Operating lease cost:
Lease cost $ 26,038 $ 26,209
Variable lease cost ! 5,586 5,371
Sublease income @ (896) (492)

M

@

$ 30,728 § 31,088

Primarily relates to common area maintenance, property taxes, insurance, utilities and parking.

The Company changed its policy for recording sub-lease income from recording it as a component of other income,
net, to a component of selling general and administrative expense to better align sublease income with the operating
costs related to leasing. Amounts related to the current and prior years were not material.

Maturities of lease liabilities by year consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2022
2023 $ 19,663
2024 19,791
2025 17,220
2026 13,446
2027 8,640
Thereafter 11,974
Total future minimum lease payments 90,734
Less imputed interest (8,641)
Present value of operating lease liabilities $ 82,093

Other information related to the operating leases consisted of the following:

December 31,
2022 2021

Weighted average remaining operating lease term 4.97 years 4.57 years
Weighted average discount rate 39% 29 %
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5. Investments in Marketable Debt Securities, Available-for-Sale

Amortized cost, allowance for credit losses, gross unrealized gains/losses in accumulated other comprehensive
income/loss and fair value of marketable debt securities, available-for-sale, by type of security consisted of the following

(in thousands):

Short-term investments:
U.S. treasuries
Corporate debt
Asset-backed securities (“ABS”) and other

Long-term investments:
U.S. treasuries
U.S. government sponsored entities
Corporate debt
ABS and other

Short-term investments:
U.S. treasuries
Corporate debt

Long-term investments:
U.S. treasuries
U.S. government sponsored entities
Corporate debt
ABS and other

December 31, 2022
Allowance Gross Gross

Amortized for Credit Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Losses Gains Losses Value
$ 135,688 $ — 14 $ (1,153) $ 134,549
118,135 — 1 (95) 118,041
859 — — (15) 844
$ 254,682 $ — 8 15 $  (1,263) $ 253,434
$ 21434 $ — 5 — $ (719 20,715
602 — — (66) 536
44214 — 21 (2,877) 41,358
6,569 — — (583) 5,986
$ 72,819 $ — 8 21§ (4,245) 68,595

December 31, 2021
Allowance Gross Gross

Amortized for Credit Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Losses Gains Losses Value
$ 35767 $ — — 3 (34) 35,733
148,148 — 22 (35) 148,135
§ 183915 § — 22§ (69) 183,868
$ 70902 $ — 128 § (263) 70,767
726 — 22 3) 745
33,197 — 962 (146) 34,013
7,033 — 82 (30) 7,085
$ 111,858 $ — $ 1,194 $ (442) § 112,610
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The Company’s investments in marketable debt securities, available-for-sale, that have been in a continuous
unrealized loss position, for which an allowance for credit losses has not been recorded, by type of security consisted of the

following (in thousands):

December 31, 2022

Less than 12 months 12 months or greater Total
Gross Gross Gross
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
U.S. treasuries 73,055 $ (1,232) $ 66,144 § (640) $ 139,199 $ (1,872)
U.S. government sponsored
entities 447 (46) 87 (20) 534 (66)
Corporate debt 130,816 (1,909) 10,681 (1,063) 141,497 (2,972)
ABS and other 4,710 (314) 2,091 (284) 6,801 (598)
209,028 $  (3,501) $ 79,003 $  (2,007) $ 288,031 $  (5508)

December 31, 2021

Less than 12 months 12 months or greater Total
Gross Gross Gross
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
U.S. treasuries $ 103,019 $ 297) $ — $ — $ 103,019 $ (297)
U.S. government sponsored
entities 115 3) — — 3 115 $ 3)
Corporate debt 115,908 (173) 146 ®) 116,054 (181)
ABS and other 2,915 (30) — — 2,915 (30)
$ 221,957 $ (503) $ 146 $ (8) $ 222,103 § (511)

Gross realized gains and losses from the sales of the Company’s marketable debt securities, available-for-sale,
consisted of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Gross realized gains " $ 113§ 221 $ 241
Gross realized losses $ 27 $ 2) $ (49)

(1) Recorded in other income, net in the consolidated statements of operations. The cost basis of securities sold were

determined based on the specific identification method.

The Company invests its excess cash in a diversified portfolio of fixed and variable rate debt securities to meet
current and future cash flow needs. All investments are made in accordance with the Company’s approved investment
policy. As of December 31, 2022, the portfolio had an average credit rating of AA+ and weighted term to contractual
maturity of 1.16 years, with 224 securities in the portfolio with an unrealized loss aggregating $5.5 million, or 1.68% of
amortized cost, and a weighted average credit rating of AA+.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company performed an impairment analysis and determined an allowance for credit
losses was not required. The Company determined that it did not have an intent to sell and it was not more likely than not
that the Company would be required to sell any security based on its current liquidity position, or to maintain compliance
with its investment policy, specifically as it relates to minimum credit ratings. The Company evaluated the securities with
an unrealized loss considering severity of loss, credit ratings, specific credit events during the period since acquisition,
overall likelihood of default, market sector, potential impact from the current economic environment and a review of an
issuer’s and securities’ liquidity and financial strength, as needed. The Company concluded that it would receive all
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scheduled interest and principal payments. The Company, therefore, determined qualitatively that the unrealized loss was
related to changes in interest rates and other market factors and therefore no allowance for credit losses was required.

Amortized cost and fair value of marketable debt securities, available-for-sale,
the following (in thousands, except weighted average data):

December 31, 2022

by contractual maturity consisted of

December 31, 2021

Amortized Amortized
Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value
Due in one year or less $ 254,683 $ 253,434 $ 183,915 $ 183,868
Due after one year through five years 56,507 54,169 96,035 96,257
Due after five years through ten years 13,435 11,850 11,129 11,601
Due after ten years 2,876 2,576 4,694 4,752
$ 327,501 § 322,029 $ 295,773 § 296,478
Weighted average contractual maturity 1.1 years 1.5 years

Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because certain issuers have the right to prepay certain

obligations with or without prepayment penalties.

6. Acquisitions, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The goodwill recorded as part of the acquisitions primarily arose from the acquired assembled workforce and
brokerage and financing sales platforms. The Company expects all of the goodwill to be tax deductible, with the tax-

deductible amount of goodwill related to the contingent and deferred consideration to

be determined once the cash

payments are made to settle any contingent and deferred consideration. The goodwill resulting from acquisitions is

allocated to the Company’s one reporting unit.

Goodwill and intangible assets, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Gross Gross
Carrying  Accumulated  Net Book  Carrying  Accumulated  Net Book
Amount Amortization Value Amount Amortization Value
Goodwill and intangible assets:
Goodwill $ 37914 § $ 37914 § 34,071 $ — § 34,071
Intangible assets ' 32,287 (14,505) 17,782 23,974 (9,940) 14,034

$ 70,201 § (14,505) $ 55,696

(¢))

respectively.
2

2022 and 2021, respectively.
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Total weighted average amortization period was 4.54 years and 5.53 years as of December 31, 2022 and 2021,

Amortization expense for the intangible assets was $4.7 million and $3.8 million for the years ended December 31,



MARCUS & MILLICHAP, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill consisted of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended
December 31,
2022 2021
Beginning balance $ 34,071 $ 33,375
Additions from acquisitions " 3,843 696
Ending balance $ 37914 §$ 34,071

M The 2021 addition represents a measurement period adjustment for an acquisition made in 2020.

Estimated amortization expense for intangible assets by year for the next five years and thereafter consisted of the
following (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,
2023 $ 4,599
2024 4,089
2025 3,871
2026 2,156
2027 1,736
Thereafter 1,331
$ 1778

The Company concluded there was no impairment of goodwill or intangible assets during the years ended December
31,2022 and 2021.

7. Selected Balance Sheet Data

Allowances on Advances and Loans

Allowance for credit losses for advances and loans consisted of the following (in thousands):

Advances and Commissions
Loans Receivable Total
Beginning balance as of January 1, 2022 $ 789 $ 5 % 794
Credit loss expense (recovery) (48) 4) (52)
Write-off 50 — 50
Ending balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 791 $ 1 3 792
Advances and Commissions
Loans Receivable Total
Beginning balance as of January 1, 2021 $ 563 § 9% 3 657
Credit loss expense (recovery) 255 (89) 166
Write-off (recovery) (29) — (29)
Ending balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 789 $ 5 9% 794
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Other Assets

Other assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

Current Non-Current
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2022 2021

MSRs, net of amortization $ — 3 — 3 — 1,855
Security deposits — — 1,625 1,395
Employee notes receivable 6 40 — —
Securities, held-to-maturity” — — 9,500 9,500
Loan performance fee receivable 766 — 4,261 —
Prepaid lease costs, trusts and other 6,510 5,230 473 396

$ 7,282 $ 5270 $ 15,859 § 13,146

M Securities, held-to-maturity, are expected to mature on September 1, 2024 and accrue interest based on the 1-year
treasury rate.

MSRs
The net change in the carrying value of MSRs consisted of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2022 2021
Beginning balance $ 1,855 § 1,897
Additions — 483
Amortization (1,275) (525)
Reclassification to assets held for sale (280) —
Loss on sale (300) —
Ending balance $ — 1,855

In the six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company received cancellation notices on certain servicing contracts.
Amortization of those contracts was adjusted to reflect the cancellations. In June 2022, the Company discontinued its
servicing activities and signed an agreement to sell the remaining servicing rights. The Company recorded a loss on the sale
of the remaining rights in the second quarter of 2022 and had reclassified the remaining carrying value of the MSRs to
assets held for sale. The loss on sale was recorded within selling, general and administrative expenses within the
consolidated statements of operations. The sale closed in the third quarter of 2022.

The portfolio of loans serviced by the Company aggregated $1.7 billion for the period ended December 31, 2021.

F-25



MARCUS & MILLICHAP, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Deferred Compensation and Commissions

Deferred compensation and commissions consisted of the following (in thousands):

Current Non-Current
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2022 2021
SARSs liability " $ 2,323 $ 2,241 $ 13,137 $ 14,918
Commissions payable to investment sales and

financing professionals 72,247 110,769 45,156 31,697
Deferred compensation liability 493 1,080 6,168 6,921
Other 258 595 — —

$ 75321 $ 114,685 $ 64,461 S 53,536

W The SARs and deferred compensation liability become subject to payout at the time a participant ceases providing

services to the Company. As a result of the retirement of certain participants, estimated amounts to be paid to the
participants within the next twelve months have been classified as current.

SARs Liability

Prior to the IPO, certain employees of the Company were granted SARs under a stock-based compensation program
assumed by MMC. In connection with the IPO, the SARs agreements were revised, the MMC liability of $20.0 million for
the SARs was frozen as of March 31, 2013 and was transferred to MMI through a capital distribution. The SARs liability
will be settled with each participant in ten annual installments in January of each year upon retirement or termination from
service, or in full upon consummation of a change in control of the Company.

Under the revised agreements, MMI is required to accrue interest on the outstanding balance beginning on
January 1, 2014 at a rate based on the 10-year treasury note, plus 2%. The rate resets annually. The rates at January 1,
2022, 2021, and 2020 were 3.63%, 2.93% and 3.92%, respectively. MMI recorded interest expense related to this liability
of $542,000, $488,000 and $710,000 for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively.

Estimated payouts within the next twelve months for participants that have separated from service have been
classified as current. During each of the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company made payments of $2.2
million, consisting of principal and accumulated interest.

Commissions Payable

Certain investment sales professionals have the ability to earn additional commissions after meeting certain annual
revenue thresholds. These commissions are recognized as cost of services in the period in which they are earned as they
relate to specific transactions closed. The Company has the ability to defer payment of certain commissions, at its election,
for up to three years. Commissions payable that are not expected to be paid within twelve months are classified as long-
term.

Deferred Compensation Liability

A select group of management is eligible to participate in the Marcus & Millichap Deferred Compensation Plan (the
“Deferred Compensation Plan”). The Deferred Compensation Plan is a non-qualified deferred compensation plan that is
intended to comply with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code and permits participants to defer compensation up to
the limits set forth in the Deferred Compensation Plan. Amounts are paid out generally when the participant is no longer a
service provider; however, an in-service payout election is available to participants. Participants may elect to receive
payouts as a lump sum or quarterly over a two to fifteen-year period. The Company elected to fund the Deferred
Compensation Plan through Company owned variable life insurance policies. The Deferred Compensation Plan is managed
by a third-party institutional fund manager, and the deferred compensation and investment earnings are held as a Company
asset in a rabbi trust, which is recorded in assets held in rabbi trust in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The
assets in the trust are restricted unless the Company becomes insolvent, in which case the trust assets are subject to the
claims of the Company’s creditors. The Company may also, in its sole and absolute discretion, elect to withdraw at any
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time a portion of the trust assets by an amount by which the fair market value of the trust assets exceeds 110% of the
aggregate deferred compensation liability represented by the participants’ accounts. Estimated payouts within the next
twelve months for participants that have separated from service or elected in service payout have been classified as current.
During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company made total payments to participants of $1.1 million
and $1.5 million, respectively.

The assets held in the rabbi trust are carried at the cash surrender value of the variable life insurance policies, which
represents its fair value. The net change in the carrying value of the assets held in the rabbi trust and the net change in the
carrying value of the deferred compensation liability, each exclusive of additional contributions, distributions and trust
expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
(Decrease) increase in the carrying value of the assets held in the rabbi
trust $ (1,743) $ 1,445 $ 1,042
Decrease (increase) in the net carrying value of the deferred
compensation obligation $ 1,743 $ (1,104) § (799)

[¢))

Recorded in other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations.
(@)

Recorded in selling, general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

Other Liabilities

Other liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

Current Non-Current
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2022 2021

Deferred consideration $ 3,633 $ 5112 $ 1,486 $ 4,689
Contingent consideration 1,726 2,681 5,341 6,631
Dividends payable 612 1,603 —
Stock repurchase payable 565 — — —
Other 3,397 991 184 74
$ 9,933 § 8,784 § 8,614 § 11,394

8. Related-Party Transactions

Shared and Transition Services

Certain services are provided to the Company under a Transition Services Agreement (“TSA”) between MMC and
the Company. The TSA is intended to provide certain services until the Company acquires these services separately. Under
the TSA, the Company incurred net costs (charge-back) during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 of
$(64,000), $(12,000) and $68,000, respectively. These amounts are included in selling, general and administrative expense
in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Brokerage and Financing Services with the Subsidiaries of MMC

MMC has wholly or majority owned subsidiaries that buy and sell commercial real estate properties. The Company
performs certain brokerage and financing services related to transactions of the subsidiaries of MMC. For the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, the Company earned real estate brokerage commissions and financing fees of $3.6
million, $2.4 million, and $2.9 million, respectively, from transactions with subsidiaries of MMC related to these services.
The Company incurred cost of services of $2.4 million, $1.4 million, and $1.7 million, respectively, related to these
revenue.
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Operating Lease with MMC

The Company has an operating lease with MMC for a single-story office building located in Palo Alto, California,
which expires in May 2032. The related operating lease cost was $1.3 million for each of the years ended December 31,
2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively. Operating lease cost is included in selling, general and administrative expense in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations. See Note 4 — “Operating Leases” for additional information.

Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities with MMC

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, accounts payable and accrued expenses with MMC aggregating $79,000 and
$93,000, respectively, remain unpaid and are included in accounts payable and accrued expenses in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.

Other

The Company makes advances to non-executive employees from time-to-time. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the
aggregate principal amount for employee notes receivable was $4,000 and $40,000, respectively, which is included in other
assets (current and non-current) in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. See Note 7 — “Selected Balance Sheet
Data” for additional information.

As of December 31, 2022, George M. Marcus, the Company’s founder and Chairman, beneficially owned

approximately 38% of the Company’s issued and outstanding common stock, including shares owned by Phoenix
Investments Holdings, LLC and the Marcus Family Foundation II.
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9. Fair Value Measurements
Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Assets and liabilities carried at fair value on a recurring basis consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Assets held in rabbi trust $ 9553 § — $ 9553 § — §$ 11,508 § — $11508 § —
Cash equivalents :
Commercial paper $ 41324 § — $ 41324 § — § 8948 § — $8948 § —
Money market funds 139,025 139,025 — — 210,985 210,985 — —
$ 180,349 $139,025 § 41324 § — $219,933 $210,985 $ 8948 § —
Marketable debt securities,
available-for-sale:
Short-term investments:
U.S. treasuries $ 134,549 $134,549 $ — 3 — $ 35,733 §$ 35,733 $ — 3 =
Corporate debt 118,041 — 118,041 — 148,135 — 148,135 —
ABS and other 844 — 844 — — — — —
$ 253,434 $134,549 $118,885 § — $183,868 $ 35,733 $148,135 § —
Long-term investments:
U.S. treasuries $ 20,715 $ 20,715 $ — % — $ 70767 $ 70,767 § — $§ —
U.S. government
sponsored
entities 536 — 536 — 745 — 745 —
Corporate debt 41,358 — 41,358 — 34,013 — 34,013 —
ABS and other 5,986 — 5,986 — 7,085 — 7,085 —
$ 68,595 $ 20,715 $ 47,880 § — $112,610 $ 70,767 $41,843 § —
Liabilities:
Contingent consideration $ 7067 $ — 3 — $ 7067 $ 9312 § — 3 — $ 9312
Deferred consideration $ 5119 § — §$ 5119 § — § 9,801 $ — $9801 $§ —
Deferred compensation
liability § 06,661 § 06,661 § — $ — § 8,001 $ 8,001 $ — 3 —

M Included in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

There were no transfers in or out of Level 3 during the year ended December 31, 2022.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company considered the probability of achieving EBITDA and other
performance targets and current and future interest rates in its determination of fair value for the contingent consideration.
The Company is uncertain as to the extent of the volatility in the unobservable inputs in the foreseeable future. Deferred
consideration in connection with acquisitions is carried at fair value and calculated using a discounted cash flow estimate
with the only remaining condition on such payments being the passage of time.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, contingent and deferred consideration had a maximum undiscounted payment
to be settled in cash or stock of $21.3 million and $28.6 million, respectively. Assuming the achievement of the applicable
performance criteria and/or service and time requirements, the Company anticipates these payments will be made over the
next one to five-year period. Changes in fair value are included in selling, general and administrative expense in the
consolidated statements of operations.

F-29



MARCUS & MILLICHAP, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

A reconciliation of contingent consideration measured at fair value on a recurring basis consisted of the following
(in thousands):

December 31,

2022 2021
Beginning balance $ 9,312 $ 5,572
Contingent consideration in connection with acquisitions " — (100)
Change in fair value of contingent consideration (161) 4,659
Payments of contingent consideration (2,084) (819)
Ending balance $ 7,067 $ 9,312

M Contingent consideration in connection with acquisitions represents a noncash investing activity. The amount

recorded during the year ended December 31, 2021 relates to a measurement period adjustment. See Note 6 —
“Acquisitions, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” for additional information.

Quantitative information about the valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation of
the Company’s Level 3 financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis consisted of the following (dollars in
thousands):

Fair Value at
December 31,

2022 Valuation Technique Unobservable inputs Range (Weighted Average)""
Contingent
consideration § 7,067 Discounted cash flow Expected life of cash flows  0.4-4.83 years (2.7 years)
Discount rate 6.0%-7.0% (6.5%)
Probability of achievement 0.0%-100.0% (95.4%)
Fair Value at
December 31,
2021 Valuation Technique Unobservable inputs Range (Weighted Average)"
Contingent
consideration § 9,312 Discounted cash flow Expected life of cash flows 1.4-5.8 years (3.4 years)
Discount rate 2.2%-3.5% (2.9%)
Probability of achievement  29.0%-100.0% (95.2%)

M Unobservable inputs were weighted by the relative fair value of the instruments.

Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements

In accordance with U.S. GAAP, from time to time, the Company measures certain assets at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis. The Company reviews the carrying value of MSRs, intangibles, goodwill and other assets for
indications of impairment at least annually. When indications of potential impairment are identified, the Company may be
required to determine the fair value of those assets and record an adjustment for the carrying amount in excess of the fair
value determined. Any fair value determination would be based on valuation approaches, which are appropriate under the
circumstances and utilize Level 2 and Level 3 measurements as required.

MSRs were initially recorded at fair value and subsequently carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value. The
Company periodically reassessed and adjusted, when necessary, the underlying inputs and assumptions used to reflect
observable market conditions and assumptions that a market participant would consider in valuing an MSR asset.
Management used assumptions in the determination of fair value for MSRs after considering default, severity, prepayment
and discount rates related to the specific types and underlying collateral of the various serviced loans, interest rates, and
refinance rates. In June 2022, the Company discontinued its servicing activities and signed an agreement to sell the
remaining servicing rights. The sale closed in the third quarter of 2022. The fair value of the MSRs approximated the
carrying value at December 31, 2021 after consideration of the revisions to the various assumptions. See Note 7 —
“Selected Balance Sheet Data — Other Assets — MSRs” for additional information.
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10.  Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, there were 39,255,838 and 39,692,373 shares of common stock, $0.0001 par
value, issued and outstanding, which include unvested RSAs issued to non-employee directors, respectively. See Note 14 —
“Earnings per Share” for additional information.

On February 16, 2022, the Board of Directors declared a semi-annual regular dividend of $0.25 per share and a
special dividend of $1.00 per share, and on August 2, 2022, the Board of Directors declared a semi-annual regular dividend
of $0.25 per share. As a result, the Company paid $60.4 million in dividends to outstanding shareholders during the twelve
months ended December 31, 2022.

As of December 31, 2022, $2.2 million remains to be paid upon vesting of stock awards. This payable of $2.2
million is recorded in other liabilities, current and other liabilities, non-current in the consolidated balance sheets. See Note
7 — “Selected Balance Sheet Data.”

Preferred Stock

The Company has 25,000,000 authorized shares of preferred stock with a par value $0.0001 per share. At
December 31, 2022 and 2021, there were no preferred shares issued or outstanding.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are included as a component of other
income (expense), net or selling, general and administrative expense, as applicable, in the consolidated statements of
operations. The reclassifications were determined on a specific identification basis.

The Company has not provided for U.S. taxes on unremitted earnings of its foreign subsidiary as it is operating at a
loss and has no earnings and profits to remit. As a result, deferred taxes were not provided related to the cumulative foreign
currency translation adjustments.

Repurchases of Common Stock

On August 2, 2022, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a common stock repurchase program of up to $70
million. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company repurchased and retired 864,271 shares of common stock
for $29.6 million, at an average cost of $34.27 per share, of which $0.6 million was for shares repurchased but not settled.
As of December 31, 2022, $40.4 million remained available under the stock repurchase program.

11.  Stock-Based Compensation Plans
2013 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan

The Company’s Board of Directors adopted the 2013 Plan, which became effective upon the Company’s IPO. In
February 2017, the Board of Directors amended and restated the 2013 Plan, which was approved by the Company’s
stockholders in May 2017. Grants are made from time to time by the compensation committee of the Company’s Board of
Directors at its discretion, subject to certain restrictions as to the number and value of shares that may be granted to any
individual. In addition, non-employee directors receive annual grants under a director compensation policy. At
December 31, 2022, there were 3,806,730 shares available for future grants under the 2013 Plan.

Awards Granted and Settled

Under the 2013 Plan, the Company has issued RSAs to non-employee directors and RSUs to employees and
independent contractors. RSAs vest over a one-year period from the date of grant subject to service requirements. RSUs
generally vest in equal annual installments over a five-year period from the date of grant or earlier as approved by the
compensation committee of the Company’s Board of Directors. Any unvested awards are canceled upon termination as a
service provider. As of December 31, 2022, there were no issued or outstanding options, SARs, performance units or
performance share awards under the 2013 Plan.
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During the year ended December 31, 2022, 292,953 shares of RSUs and 13,323 of previously issued RSAs vested.
86,049 shares of common stock were withheld to pay applicable required employee statutory withholding taxes based on
the market value of the shares on the vesting date. The shares withheld for taxes were returned to the share reserve and are
available for future issuance in accordance with provisions of the 2013 Plan. Unvested RSUs will be settled through the
issuance of new shares of common stock.

Outstanding Awards
Activity under the 2013 Plan consisted of the following (dollars in thousands, except weighted average per share
data):
Weighted-
Average Grant
Date
Fair Value Per
Total Share
Nonvested shares at December 31, 2019 800,075 $ 33.91
Granted 434,705 $ 32.80
Vested (284,503) $ 32.74
Forfeited/canceled (31,898) $ 34.49
Nonvested shares at December 31, 2020 () 918,379 $ 33.73
Granted 381,215 $ 39.03
Vested (277,253) $ 31.89
Forfeited/canceled (41,405) $ 3347
Nonvested shares at December 31, 2021 980,936 $ 36.32
Granted 1,094,507 $ 45.41
Vested (306,276) $ 35.49
Forfeited/canceled (27,706) $ 39.11
Nonvested shares at December 31, 2022 () 1,741,461 $ 42.14

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had unrecognized stock-based compensation relating to RSUs and RSAs
of approximately $60.2 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.77 years.

The aggregate fair value of RSUs and RSAs that vested were $13.4 million, $10.2 million, and $8.9 million for the
years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively.

The fair value of fully vested DSUs that settled was $13.4 million, $2.4 million and $0 million for the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively. See “SARs and DSUs” section below and Note 14 — “Earnings per
Share” for additional information.

ESPP

In 2013, the Company adopted the ESPP. The ESPP is intended to qualify under Section 423 of the Internal
Revenue Code and provides for consecutive, non-overlapping 6-month offering periods. The offering periods generally
start on the first trading day on or after May 15 and November 15 of each year. Qualifying employees may purchase shares
of the Company stock at a 10% discount based on the lower of the market price at the beginning or end of the offering
period, subject to Internal Revenue Service limitations. The Company determined that the ESPP was a compensatory plan
and is required to expense the fair value of the awards over each 6-month offering period.

The ESPP initially had 366,667 shares of common stock reserved, and 136,912 shares of common stock remain
available for issuance as of December 31, 2022. The ESPP provides for annual increases in the number of shares available
for issuance under the ESPP, equal to the least of (i) 366,667 shares, (ii) 1% of the outstanding shares on such date, or (iii)
an amount determined by the compensation committee of the Board of Directors. No annual increases have been made to

F-32



MARCUS & MILLICHAP, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

date. At December 31, 2022, total unrecognized compensation cost related to the ESPP was $83,000 and is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of 0.37 years.

SARs and DSUs

Prior to the IPO, certain employees were granted SARs. As of March 31, 2013, the outstanding SARs were frozen at
the liability amount, and will be paid out to each participant in installments upon retirement or departure under the terms of
the revised SARs agreements. To replace beneficial ownership in the SARs, the difference between the book value liability
and the fair value of the awards was granted to plan participants in the form of DSUs, which were fully vested upon receipt
and will be settled in actual stock at a rate of 20% per year if the participant remains employed by the Company during that
period (otherwise all unsettled shares of stock upon termination from service will be settled five years from the termination
date, unless otherwise agreed to by the Company). In the event of death or termination of service after reaching the age of
67, 100% of the DSUs will be settled. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, 281,193 DSUs were settled,
and 120,341 shares of common stock were withheld to pay applicable required employee statutory withholding taxes based
on the market value of the DSUs on the settlement date. As of December 31, 2022, all DSUs were fully vested and settled.

Summary of Stock-Based Compensation

Components of stock-based compensation are included in selling, general and administrative expense in the
consolidated statements of operations and consisted of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
ESPP $ 150 § 142§ 168
RSUs and RSAs 17,162 10,219 9,737
$ 17,312 § 10,361 § 9,905

12. Income Taxes

The components of income from continuing operations before provision for income taxes consisted of the following
(in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
United States $ 143815 $ 193,147 $ 62,206
Foreign (1,786) 156 (2,842)

$ 142,029 § 193,303 § 59,364
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The provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Federal:
Current $ 34,968 $ 48,785 § 12,437
Deferred (4,973) (9,600) 310
29,995 39,185 12,747

State:

Current 8,857 13,903 3,616
Deferred (1,100) (2,243) 163
7,757 11,660 3,779

Foreign:
Current — — —
Deferred 52 (12) —
52 (12) —

$ 37,804 § 50,833 $ 16,526

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2022 2021
Deferred Tax Assets:
Accrued expenses and bonuses $ 6,406 $ 6,822
Bad debt and other reserves 9,655 6,989
Deferred compensation 21,018 18,287
Operating lease ROU assets, net 20,798 20,937
Stock-based compensation 7,273 7,031
Net operating and capital loss carryforwards 3,835 3,769
State taxes — 92
Other comprehensive income (loss) 1,676 —
Amortizable intangibles and other 2,221 1,577
Deferred tax assets before valuation allowance 72,882 65,504
Valuation allowance (4,935) (4,599)
Deferred Tax Assets 67,947 60,905
Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Fixed assets (5,715) (6,552)
Operating lease liabilities (18,523) (18,697)
Prepaid expenses (1,180) (1,513)
State taxes (472) —
Other comprehensive income (loss) — (195)
Goodwill and other (736) (212)
Deferred Tax Liabilities (26,626) (27,169)
Deferred Tax Assets, Net $ 41,321  $ 33,736
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As of December 31, 2022, and 2021, the Company had state and Canadian net operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $14.2 million and $14.7 million, respectively, principally all of which will begin to expire in 2035.

A valuation allowance is required when it is more-likely-than not that all or a portion of a deferred tax asset will not
be realized. Realization of a deferred tax asset is dependent upon taxable income in prior carryback years as appropriate,
depending on jurisdiction, estimates of future taxable income, tax planning strategies and reversals of existing taxable
temporary differences. The Company determined that as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, $4.9 million and $4.6 million,
respectively, of the deferred tax assets related to state and Canadian losses do not satisfy the recognition criteria. The
Company has therefore recorded a valuation allowance for this amount. The valuation allowance for deferred tax assets
was increased by $337,000, $179,000 and $497,000 during 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The increases are primarily
related to the Company’s Canadian operations.

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal corporate
income tax rate to income before provision for income taxes and consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Amount Rate Amount Rate Amount Rate

Income tax expense at the federal statutory

rate $ 29,826 21.0% $ 40,594 21.0% $ 12,466 21.0 %
State income tax expense, net of federal

benefit 6,127 43 % 9,210 4.8 % 2,983 5.0 %
(Windfall) shortfall tax benefits, net

related to stock-based compensation (2,714) 1.9)% (555) (0.3)% 240 0.4 %
Change in valuation allowance 337 0.2 % 179 0.1 % 497 0.8 %
Permanent and other items ) 4,228 3.0 % 1,405 0.7 % 340 0.6 %

$§ 37,804 26.6 % $ 50,833 263 % $§ 16,526 27.8 %

M Permanent items relate principally to compensation charges, qualified transportation fringe benefits, reversal of
uncertain tax positions and meals and entertainment.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits consisted of the following (in
thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Beginning balance $ 304 $ 55 § 775
Gross increases/ (decreases) as a result of positions taken:
Prior periods (304) 1 —
Current period — 304 —
Expiration of applicable statutes of limitation — (56) (720)
Ending balance $ — 3 304 § 55

Unrecognized tax benefits balance decreased by $304,000 due to the reversal of a prior year uncertain tax position.
The Company records interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefit in provision of income taxes. As of
December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company has recorded $6,000 in the 2022 and 2021 years related to interest expense in
provision of income taxes. During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, penalties of $0 and $0, respectively, were
recorded relating to unrecognized tax benefits.

The Company is subject to tax in various jurisdictions and, as a matter of ordinary course, the Company may be
subject to income tax examinations by the federal, state and foreign taxing authorities for the tax years 2018 to 2022. The
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Company is currently under income tax examination by the state of Illinois, and the audit by the state of New York is
closed without any assessment.

The Company has not provided for U.S. taxes on unremitted earnings of its foreign subsidiary as this subsidiary is
operating at a loss and has no earnings and profits to remit. As a result, deferred taxes were not provided related to the
cumulative translation adjustments.

13. Retirement Plans

The Company has its own defined contribution plan (the “Marcus & Millichap, Inc. 401(k) Plan”) under Section
401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code for all eligible employees who have completed one month of service. The contribution
plan is subject to the provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”), as amended.
Participants may contribute up to 100% of their annual eligible compensation, subject to Internal Revenue Service
limitations and ERISA. The Company matches employees’ contributions each pay period, dollar for dollar, up to a
maximum of $4,000. Employees become vested in these Company contributions 33% upon one year of service, 66% upon
two years of service and 100% upon three years of service. Company matching contributions aggregated $2.0 million, $1.2
million and $1.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively, which is included in selling,
general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

14. Earnings per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 consisted of the
following (in thousands, except per share data):

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Numerator (Basic and Diluted):
Net income $ 104,225 § 142,470 $ 42,838
Change in value for stock settled consideration (37) 27 3)
Adjusted net income $ 104,188 $ 142,497 $ 42,835
Denominator:
Basic
Weighted Average Common Shares Issued and Outstanding 39,751 39,575 39,318
Deduct: Unvested RSAs " (12) (14) (18)
Add: Fully vested DSUs @ 154 327 342
Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding 39,893 39,888 39,642
Basic earnings per common share $ 261 $ 357 § 1.08
Diluted
Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding from above 39,893 39,888 39,642
Add: Dilutive effect of RSUs, RSAs & ESPP 207 206 67
Add: Contingently issuable shares 86 93 26
Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding 40,186 40,187 39,735
Diluted earnings per common share $ 259 $ 355 8§ 1.08
Antidilutive shares excluded from diluted earnings per common
share ¥ 1,084 366 684

W RSAs were issued and outstanding to the non-employee directors and have a one-year vesting term subject to service

requirements. See Note 11 — “Stock-Based Compensation Plans” for additional information.

Shares are included in weighted average common shares outstanding as the shares are fully vested but were not yet
delivered. See Note 11 — “Stock-Based Compensation Plans” for additional information.

Relates to contingently issuable stock settled consideration.

@

3)
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@ Primarily pertaining to RSU grants to the Company’s employees and independent contractors.

15. Commitments and Contingencies
Credit Agreement

On June 18, 2014, the Company entered into a Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (the
“Credit Agreement”). On May 31, 2022, the Company executed an amended and restated Credit Agreement (the “First
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement”) to extend the maturity date of the Credit Agreement on substantially the same
terms and conditions as the original credit facility. The First Amended and Restated Credit Agreement provided for a $60.0
million principal amount senior secured revolving credit facility that was guaranteed by all of the Company’s domestic
subsidiaries (the “Credit Facility”), which was scheduled to mature on August 1, 2022. On July 28, 2022, the Company
entered into the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, which provides for a three-year extension of its Credit
Facility with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association on principally the same terms and conditions as the extension signed
in May 2022. The new agreement matures on June 1, 2025.

The Company may borrow, repay and reborrow amounts under the Credit Facility until its maturity date, at which
time all amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility must be repaid in full. Borrowings under the Credit Agreement are
available for general corporate purposes and working capital. The Credit Facility includes a $10.0 million sublimit for the
issuance of standby letters of credit of which $533,000 was utilized at December 31, 2022. Borrowings under the Credit
Facility will bear interest at the Daily Simple SOFR rate plus a spread of between 1.00% to 1.25% depending on the
Company’s total funded debt to EBITDA as defined in the Credit Agreement. In connection with the amendments of the
Credit Agreement, the Company paid bank fees and other expenses, which are being amortized over the remaining term of
the Credit Agreement. The Company pays a commitment fee of up to 0.1% per annum, payable quarterly, based on the
amount of unutilized commitments under the Credit Facility. The amortization of issuance costs and the commitment fee
are included in interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations and were $167,000, $87,000, and $93,000
during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively. As of December 31, 2022, there were no
amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement.

The Credit Facility contains customary covenants, including financial and other covenant reporting requirements and
events of default. Financial covenants require the Company, on a combined basis with its guarantors, to maintain (i) an
EBITDAR Coverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) of not less than 1.25:1.0 as of each quarter end,
determined on a rolling four-quarter basis, and (ii) total funded debt to EBITDA not greater than 2.0:1.0 as of each quarter
end, determined on a rolling four-quarter basis, and also limits investments in foreign entities and certain other loans. The
Credit Facility is secured by substantially all assets of the Company, including pledges of 100% of the stock or other equity
interest of each subsidiary except for the capital stock of a controlled foreign corporation (as defined in the Internal
Revenue Code), in which case no such pledge is required. As of December 31, 2022, the Company was in compliance with
all financial and non-financial covenants and has not experienced any limitation in its operations as a result of the
covenants.

Strategic Alliance

The Company, in connection with the strategic alliance with MTRCC, has agreed to provide loan opportunities that
may be funded through MTRCC’s DUS Agreement with Fannie Mae. MTRCC’s agreement with Fannie Mae requires
MTRCC to guarantee a portion of each funded loan. On a loan-by-loan basis, the Company, at its option, can indemnify a
portion of MTRCC’s guarantee obligation of loan opportunities presented to and closed by MTRCC. As of December 31,
2022, the Company has agreed to a maximum aggregate guarantee obligation of $55.7 million related to loans with an
unpaid balance of $334.0 million. The Company would be liable for this amount only if all of the loans for which it is
providing a guarantee to MTRCC were to default and all of the collateral underlying these loans for which it is providing a
guarantee to MTRCC were to default and all of the collateral underlying these loans was determined to be without value at
the time of settlement. As of December 31, 2022, the Company has recorded an allowance for loss-sharing obligations of
$275,000 and pledged $15,800 in a restricted bank account in support of the guarantee obligation.

Other

In connection with certain agreements with investment sales and financing professionals, the Company may agree to
advance amounts to such professionals upon reaching certain time and performance goals. Such commitments as of
December 31, 2022 aggregated $16.1 million.
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16.  Subsequent Events

In connection with agreements in principle with investment sales and financing professionals, the Company entered
into commitments through the date these consolidated financial statements were issued, aggregating $15.3 million, of
which $9.3 million has been paid. Such commitments to investment sales and financing professionals may be subject to
various conditions.

On February 9, 2023, the Board of Directors declared a semi-annual regular dividend of $0.25 per share, payable on
April 6, 2023, to stockholders of record at the close of business on March 14, 2023. Based on the estimated number of
shares to be outstanding as of March 14, 2023, the dividends declared aggregated $10.4 million, including dividend
equivalents totaling $0.5 million to be paid on unvested restricted stock and deferred stock units granted under the 2013
Plan. These dividend equivalents will be paid when the underlying restricted stock and deferred stock units vest. Any and
all future dividends are subject to review and approval by the Board of Directors.

Between December 31, 2022 and February 23, 2023, the Company repurchased an additional 11,850 shares of
common stock for $0.4 million under the stock repurchase program.
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